



**International Multidisciplinary Conference** 

# NURTURING CRITICAL MINDS: Interdisciplinary Perspectives in Education and the Workforce

27-28 June 2024

Vilnius University • Faculty of Philology

#### **ABSTRACTS**





Institute of Foreign Languages, Faculty of Philology, Vilnius University



University of Western Macedonia, Greece

#### **SCIENTIFIC COMMITTEE**

Roma Kriaučiūnienė (Chair, Vilnius University, Lithuania)

Dimitris Pnevmatikos (Vice-Chair, University of Western Macedonia, Greece)

Agnė Jakavonytė-Akstinienė (Vilnius University, Lithuania)

Karolis Ažukaitis (Vilnius University, Lithuania)

María Querol-Bataller (Universitat de Valènca, Spain)

Lina Bikelienė (Vilnius University, Lithuania)

Nijolė Burkšaitienė (Vilnius University, Lithuania)

Elisa Chaleta (University of Evora, Portugal)

Panagiota Christodoulou (University of Western Macedonia, Greece)

Filio Georgiadou (University of Western Macedonia, Greece)

Ovidiu Ivancu (Vilnius University, Lithuania)

Simona Kontrimienė (Vilnius University, Lithuania)

Julija Korostenskienė (Vilnius University, Lithuania)

Jean-Pierre Levet (Université de Limoges, France)

Angeliki Lithoxoidou (University of Western Macedonia, Greece)

Jurgita Markevičiūtė (Vilnius University, Lithuania)

Adam Mastandrea (Vilnius University, Lithuania)

Lina Inčiuraitė-Noreikienė (Vilnius University, Lithuania)

Rita Payan Carreira (University of Evora, Portugal)

Svetozar Poštič (Vilnius University, Lithuania)

Nicholas Edward Rickard (Vilnius University, Lithuania)

Inna Samoylyukevych (Vilnius University, Lithuania)

Luis Sebastião (University of Evora, Portugal)

Margarida Simões (University of Evora, Portugal)

Irena Snukiškienė (Vilnius University, Lithuania)

Daiva Jakavonytė-Staškuvienė (Vytautas Magnus University, Lithuania)

Manuela Vilhena (University of Evora, Portugal)

Loreta Zavadskienė (Vilnius University, Lithuania)

#### ORGANSING COMMITTEE

Roma Kriaučiūnienė (Chair, Vilnius University, Lithuania)

Jūratė Bikulčienė (Vilnius University, Lithuania)

Loreta Chodzkienė Vilnius University, Lithuania)

Panagiota Christodoulou (University of Western Macedonia, Greece)

Agnė Jakavonytė-Akstinienė (Vilnius University, Lithuania)

Ovidiu Ivancu (Vilnius University, Lithuania)

Simona Kontrimienė (Vilnius University, Lithuania)

Aistė Marija Markevičienė (Vilnius University, Lithuania)

Agnė Masionė (Vilnius University, Lithuania)

Svetozar Poštić (Vilnius University, Lithuania)

Nicholas Edward Rickard (Vilnius University, Lithuania)

Hannah Lucy Shipman-Gricienė (Vilnius University, Lithuania)

Irena Snukiškienė (Vilnius University, Lithuania)

Loreta Zavadskienė (Vilnius University, Lithuania)

#### **PARTNERS**











#### **Contents**

| Welcome!  | 6  |
|---|----|
| Keynote speakers  | 7  |
| Kay Hemmerling  |    |
| Inga Jončienė   |    |
| Sandra Kairė.   |    |
| Adam Mastandrea.  |    |
| Daiva Penkauskienė  |    |
| Dimitris Pnevmatikos                                      |    |
| Luís Sebastião  |    |
| Alistair Starling.  |    |
| Erika Vaiginienė.   |    |
| Zima valgimene  |    |
| All sessions  | 21 |
| Rasa Aškinytė   | 22 |
| Linara Bartkuvienė  |    |
| Evelina Burokė  |    |
| Edita Butrimė, Silvija Rakutienė, Dalija Gudaitytė        | 25 |
| Guillaume Caillaud  |    |
| Handan Çelik, Nalan Bayraktar Balkır                      |    |
| Loreta Chodzkienė   |    |
| Panagiota Christodoulou & Anastasios Papanikolaou         |    |
| Indrė Čergelytė-Podgrušienė                               | 33 |
| Nijolė Čiučiulkienė, Ilona Tandzegolskienė-Bielaglovė,    |    |
| Martyna Čuladienė   | 34 |
| Aistė Diržytė, Valdonė Indrašienė, Violeta Jegelevičienė, |    |
| Odeta Merfeldaitė, Daiva Penkauskienė, Jolanta Pivorienė, |    |
| Asta Railienė, Justinas Sadauskas                         | 36 |
| Laura Giniūnienė  | 38 |
| Julija Grigorjevaitė                                      | 39 |
| Akın Gürbüz, Rana Yildirim                                | 40 |
| Tom Hashimoto   | 41 |
| Mark Hennessy   | 42 |
| Gitana Irnienė  | 43 |
| Ovidiu Ivancu   | 44 |

| Agnė Jakavonytė-Akstinienė  | 45    |
|---|-------|
| Daiva Jakavonytė-Staškuvienė, Jolita Kudinovienė                    | 46    |
| Daiva Jakavonytė-Staškuvienė, Jovita Ponomariovienė                 | 47    |
| Tatjana Jevsikova   | 48    |
| Vilma Kardauskė, Danutė Belazarienė                                 | 49    |
| Tomas Karpavičius   | 50    |
| Tahmineh Khalili, Saeed Ketabi, Dimitris Pnevmatikos,               |       |
| Dariush Nejad Ansari Mahabadi                                       | 51    |
| Simona Kontrimienė  | 52    |
| Mykolas Lekevičius  | 53    |
| Jurgita Markevičiūtė  | 55    |
| Gerda Ana Melnik-Leroy, Giedrė Dzemydaitė, Linas Aidokas,           |       |
| Gintautas Dzemyda, Virginijus Marcinkevičius,                       |       |
| Danguolė Melnikienė, Ana Usovaitė 5                                 | 6, 57 |
| Natalya Mikhailova  | 58    |
| Paul Nanu   | 59    |
| Rimas Norvaiša  | 60    |
| Rita Payan Carreira   | 61    |
| Rita Payan-Carreira, Ruben Silva, Hugo Rebelo, Luis Sebastião       | 62    |
| Rūta Petkutė  | 63    |
| Svetozar Postic   | 64    |
| Iuliu Rațiu   | 65    |
| Hugo Rebelo, Luís Sebastião, Rita Payan-Carreira,                   |       |
| Filipa Tirapicos, Ana Cristóvão                                     | 66    |
| Tomas Riklius   | 68    |
| Grant Matthew Rosson  | 69    |
| Tudor Roșu  | 70    |
| Inga Rozgienė   | 71    |
| Katherine Ruprecht  | 72    |
| Inna Samoylyukevych   | 73    |
| Asta Statkevičienė  | 75    |
| Filipa Tirapicos, Hugo Rebelo, Luís Sebastião & Rita Payan-Carreira | 76    |
| Marija Truš   |       |
| Roma Valiukienė   |       |
| Tomasz Wysłobocki   | 79    |
| Loreta Zavadskienė  | 81    |

### Dear Participants of the interdisciplinary conference "Nurturing Critical Minds: Interdisciplinary Perspectives in Education and the Workforce"

On behalf of the Conference Organizing and Scientific Committees, we warmly welcome you to our conference, taking place at Vilnius University, Faculty of Philology, in the beautiful capital city of Lithuania, Vilnius. This conference is organized in a hybrid format to accommodate those unable to attend in person.

Our interdisciplinary conference will cover a diverse range of fields and perspectives on developing critical thinking skills in various academic disciplines and labor market institutions. The primary aim is to present research on the development of students' critical thinking across different university disciplines and to share examples of best practices.

From 2020 to 2023, the Institute of Foreign Languages, Faculty of Philology, participated in the European Commission-funded Erasmus+ project *Think4Jobs*. The idea to organize this conference, dedicated to fostering critical thinking skills, emerged in 2023 during the final project partners' meeting in Emden/Leer, Germany. The decision was made to collaborate with the project *Think4Jobs* coordinator Prof. Dr Dimitris Pnevmatikos and his colleagues form the Department of Primary Education and the Department of Psychology, School of Social Sciences and Humanities, University of Western Macedonia.

The conference will primarily focus on but is not limited to, the development of critical thinking within the disciplines addressed by the Erasmus+ Think4Jobs project (teacher education, foreign language teaching, economics, IT, and medicine).

Organising this conference is a tremendous task. We are grateful to the various faculties of Vilnius University for their support and contributions. Special thanks go to the Faculty of Philosophy, Faculty of Mathematics and Informatics, Faculty of Medicine, and Faculty of Economics and Business Administration.

We are especially grateful to Assoc. Prof. Dr Sandra Kairė, Director of the Institute of Educational Sciences, Faculty of Philosophy; Prof. Dr Jurgita Markevičiūtė, Vice-Dean for Strategy, Faculty of Mathematics and Informatics; Assoc. Prof. Dr Karolis Ažukaitis, Vice-Dean for Research, Faculty of Medicine and Assist. Prof. Dr Agnė Jakavonytė-Akstinienė; Dean of the Faculty of Economics and Business Administration, Prof. Dr Aida Mačerinskienė, for their invaluable support and advice. We are also grateful to the Dean of the Faculty of Philology Prof. Dr Mindaugas Kvietkauskas for supporting the conference and providing all the necessary assistance.

I would also like to thank all the members of the Organizing and Scientific Committees for their assistance with various organisational issues. Special thanks go to Agnė Masionė, former administrator of the Institute of Foreign Languages, for preparing all conference visual materials, and to Jūratė Bikulčienė and Aistė Marija Markevičienė for their help in resolving all and many emerging organizational issues. Lastly, I would like to thank all the staff of the Institute of Foreign Languages who worked tirelessly to make this conference a reality.

We invite you to embark on a two-day journey filled with informative, challenging, and thought-provoking keynote presentations, discussions, and both live and online panel presentations. We hope you find the conference productive and enjoyable, and that you enrich yourself with evidence-based research and ideas on how to nurture the critical minds of our students most effectively for their future professions and the betterment of our societies.

On behalf of the Conference Organizing and Scientific Committees,

Prof. Dr. Roma Kriaučiūnienė

Chair of Organizing and Scientific Committees Vilnius University, Lithuania

### **Keynote speakers**



#### **Kay Hemmerling**

Chairman at the Institute for Moral-Democratic Competence, Germany kay.hemmerling@imdc.info

# Nurturing Critical Thinking vs. Fostering Moral Competence: Psychological Perspectives on Theory and Measurement of Both Concepts and Their Implications for Education

In his keynote speech, Dr. Hemmerling will apply Georg Lind's Dual-Aspects model of morality to various conceptions of critical thinking. According to Piaget (1976) and Lind (2019), behaviour comprises two fundamental aspects: the affective and the cognitive aspects. The affective aspect refers to the content of behaviour, while the cognitive aspect pertains to its structure. Critical thinking is often described as reasoned, reflective thinking (cognitive aspect), which involves a commitment to use reason in the formulation of our beliefs (affective aspect) (McPeck, 1981). Regarding the Dual-Aspect model, we can conceptualize the similarities and differences between critical thinking and moral competence approaches. This distinction of aspects, which can be separately described but are objectively inseparable, is crucial for understanding and measuring both concepts and their underlying theories. The presenter will emphasize the important question: How well do questionnaires measure critical thinking and moral competence (construct validity)? To illustrate, he will introduce the Moral Competence Test (MCT), which measures moral competence. Good construct validity of test instruments is essential when evaluating, for example, the quality of learning environments (Schillinger, 2006; Hemmerling, 2014) or the effects of teacher training. To highlight the interconnections and differences between critical thinking and moral competence, Dr Hemmerling will provide practical examples from the context of small and medium-sized enterprises in Germany.

#### **BIOGRAPHY**

Doctor of Natural Sciences, Diplom-Psychologe Kay Hemmerling is a pedagogic psychologist specializing in psychological didactics within professional settings. With a rich professional background, he has contributed his expertise across diverse fields, including geriatric care, hospitality, and as a psychological referral officer within the prison system. Engaging in various social rehabilitation projects, Dr. Hemmerling notably facilitated debates among inmates in high-security prisons. Under the guidance of Prof. Georg Lind, his doctoral research focused on the practical implementation of moral competence within social rehabilitation frameworks. The culmination of his efforts is reflected in his publication "Morality behind Bars" by Peter Lang, which disseminates his insightful findings and analyses.

Dr. Hemmerling became closely associated with Prof. Lind, serving as his assistant and cultivating a friendship while undergoing rigorous training and certification as a teacher and trainer in the Konstanz Method of Dilemma Discussion (KMDD). From

2006 onward, Dr. Hemmerling expertly applied KMDD across diverse educational settings, spanning from primary to higher education institutions. Additionally, he integrated KMDD into various vocational domains, extending support to socio-educational programs for dropouts and the long-term unemployed, providing therapeutic assistance to individuals battling addiction, and delivering professional training sessions. Dr. Hemmerling's commitment to advancing educational practices is evidenced through his leadership in numerous research projects and his role as a trusted scientific advisor to several university research institutes.

Over the past decade, Kay Hemmerling has excelled as an employer and project manager, spearheading multiple EU-funded initiatives. These projects are dedicated to provide support for trainers, students, and process consultants within small and medium-sized enterprises. Through his dynamic leadership and strategic insight, Dr. Hemmerling has played a pivotal role in enhancing the professional development and operational efficiency of individuals and businesses alike across the European Union.

Following the passing of Prof. Georg Lind, Dr. Hemmerling was elected as the first chairman at the Institute for Moral-Democratic Competence (IMDC e.V.). This institute holds a significant position as the official training hub for the Konstanz Method of Dilemma Discussion (KMDD), offering comprehensive training programmes tailored for educators and teacher-training institutions. Under Dr. Hemmerling's stewardship, the IMDC continues to uphold Prof. Lind's legacy, fostering ethical and democratic competencies through rigorous training and educational initiatives.

#### Inga Jončienė

Head of Business Development at Alliance for Recruitment, Lithuania ij@afr.lt

### Market Situation in Lithuania: Hiring Attitude and Training the Skills

As the labor market situation in Lithuania is changing fast and finding the best Talents for the companies is still challenging, the importance of collaboration and know-how sharing between the academic world and business plays a major role. Therefore, the presentation delivered by the biggest agency in the Baltics will provide a thorough market overview, highlighting current trends and challenges in recruitment. Also, the speaker will share insights on the most trending industries, candidates' expectations, and statistical metrics that indicate and forecast the dynamics of the labor market in the upcoming years. The presentation will emphasize the importance of soft competencies for successful career starts and share valuable tips for effective job interviews, focusing on expectations and optimal self-presentation. Last but not least the presenter will emphasize critical thinking, emotional intelligence, and other soft competencies that are and will be essential in the future.

#### **BIOGRAPHY**

Inga Jončienė brings extensive expertise in the recruitment industry, backed by a robust skill set encompassing recruitment, training, client consulting, and business development. With over five years of hands-on experience, she has honed her abilities at the forefront of the Baltic recruitment landscape, notably at the esteemed agency, "Alliance for Recruitment." Inga Jončienė currently leads the Business Development Team across the Baltic region. Her leadership role underscores her proficiency in strategic planning, team management, and fostering client relationships. In addition to her operational responsibilities, Inga is recognized for her effective leadership within the industry. She has been invited to speak at prestigious conferences such as "FSM Talks", "SDG Forumas", "HR Savaitė" "Finansų Vadovų Konferencija" among others. Her contributions to these events showcase her insights, expertise, and ability to engage audiences on critical topics within the recruitment and HR domains.

#### Sandra Kairė

Associate Professor, Director of the Institute of Educational Sciences, Faculty of Philosophy, Vilnius University, Lithuania sandra.kaire@fsf.vu.lt

### Critical Thinking for Education in the Anthropocene: What to Expect?

Associate Professor Sandra Kairė will reflect on the future of the school in the new geological epoch of the Anthropocene and the possibilities of critical thinking in it. Various scholars (e.g., Gough, Somerville) and international organizations (like UNESCO) are beginning to agree that education in the Anthropocene must be very different from the education currently practiced in schools - it necessitates a different pedagogy and curriculum. According to Annette Gough (2020), education in an Anthropocene should provide opportunities for learning to live in and engage with the world, which acknowledges that we live in a more-than-human world. Thus, the presenter will seek to reflect on the following questions: How is critical thinking envisioned by scholars and international organizations in the discourse of education in the Anthropocene? What could be the possible role(s) of critical thinking for education in the Anthropocene? Can we expect any changes in critical thinking in the future of the school?

#### **BIOGRAPHY**

Sandra Kairė is an Associate Professor and director of the Institute of Educational Sciences (Vilnius University, Lithuania). She is an expert in intercultural education, visuality and education, qualitative research, education in the Anthropocene, climate crisis, and education. She was also inquiring about visual school culture, school spaces, and visual artifacts created by pupils. She specializes in the phenomenological, visual, and posthuman approaches to educational research and practice.

She has recently accomplished postdoctoral research, "Like the ocean we rise": learner-education relation in the epoch of Anthropocene," which seeks to identify essential changes in the educational processes of the children of the Anthropocene. During postdoctoral research, she closely worked with Professor of Education Margaret Somerville (Western Sydney University, Australia), whose conceptual, theoretical, and methodological contributions to place studies have coalesced into a significant body of research worldwide in sustainability education across the educational spectrum from early childhood to school and community-based education. She is a member of the International Research Network "Planetary Wellbeing and Human Learning Group "(Institute for Interdisciplinary Research into the Anthropocene, Australia) (since 2021).

#### **Adam Mastandrea**

Assistant Professor in the Department of Foreign Language Teaching and Research, Institute of Foreign Languages, Faculty of Philology, Vilnius University, Lithuania adam.mastandrea@flf.vu.lt

### Teaching Media Literacy and Critical Thinking in the Language Classroom

The increased prevalence and anti-democratic nature of disinformation, in general, make the teaching of media literacy and critical thinking skills an urgent and essential need. English language learners are at increased risk of consuming disinformation and sharing false or misleading information without understanding the meaning or social impact of the message. This presentation explores the possibilities of innovative media literacy teaching practices aimed at in-depth analysis of contemporary examples of disinformation, conspiracy theories, propaganda, and fake news. The presenter will discuss current approaches to teaching media literacy/critical thinking and then showcase classroom materials that combine aspects of media literacy, critical thinking practices, linguistic approaches to analyzing disinformation, and psychological approaches to examining bias and motive. The goal is to provide direction for the development of resources and activities for language teachers to approach combining media literacy critical-thinking skills, and language instruction.

#### **BIOGRAPHY**

Dr. Adam Mastandrea is an Assistant Professor at the Institute of Foreign Languages of the Faculty of Philology at Vilnius University. He holds a PhD in Educational Psychology from the University of Hawai'i Manoa, an MA in Applied Linguistics from the University of Montana, and a BA in Philosophy from Montana State University. Before joining the faculty at Vilnius University, Adam Mastandrea served as a U.S. Department of State English Language Fellow in Lithuania from 2019 to 2022. His teaching experience spans across various countries, including Lithuania, Japan, Montana, Poland, and Hawaii. Adam Mastandrea's research interests lie in the areas of language teaching pedagogy, language teacher identity, and media literacy in the language classroom. His academic contributions and expertise in these domains enrich the educational landscape at Vilnius University and beyond, fostering innovative approaches to language education and teacher development.

#### Daiva Penkauskienė

Director of Modern Didactics Center, Associate Professor at the Institute of Educational Sciences and Social Work, Mykolas Romeris University, Lithuania daiva.penkauskiene@gmail.com

### Concept and Context of Critical Thinking in Higher Education

Concept and Context of Critical Thinking in Higher Education The importance of critical thinking and its development is unquestionable as a goal of higher education. Critical thinking is emphasized in the educational policy documents of international and national organizations, in the inaugural speeches of rectors, in the activity reports of higher education institutions, and in the goals of study programmes. It may therefore appear that neither the very concept of critical thinking nor the practice of its critical thinking development should be questioned. But is that the case? Many researchers confirm that, in most cases, critical thinking is easier to grasp as an aspiration than as an outcome, and that neither the concept itself, nor the possibilities to recognize its manifestation in study results are easy and clear. At the same time, it raises the question of the readiness and ability of teachers themselves to develop critical thinking coherently and methodically. This presentation points out the following questions: 1) Is it necessary to have a clear conception of critical thinking and a philosophical-methodological underpinning for the development of critical thinking? 2) How important is the context for critical thinking education? 3) How is critical thinking perceived and recognized by teachers and students? 4) How is critical thinking developed by lecturers themselves? 5) How and at what level does critical thinking need to be developed to meet declarations of strategic documents? 6) Whether the development of critical thinking is a "real demand-based order" or just a formal slogan. These questions will be reflected upon in the light of international and national research, as well as personal professional practice, and will invite discussion about the opportunities and obstacles for the development of critical thinking.

#### **BIOGRAPHY**

Daiva Penkauskienė is an Associate Professor at the Institute of Educational Sciences and Social Work at Mykolas Romeris University. Her primary research focus revolves around critical thinking and its development. Collaborating with colleagues, she has contributed to the preparation and publication of over 20 articles, methodological resources, learning tools, and books on this subject. Notably, one of her recent works is the monograph titled "Critical Thinking in Higher Education and Labour Market," which was published by Peter Lang. In addition to her research endeavors, Daiva Penkauskienė actively engages in teaching, offering a course on the "Development of Critical Thinking" to university students. She also integrates the development of critical thinking skills into other subjects that she teaches. Beyond academia, Daiva Penkauskienė is a founding director of the non-governmental organization "Modern Didactics Centre." This organization's pri-

mary initiative is the "Development of Critical Thinking" program, which is continuously refined and implemented across all educational levels and settings. Furthermore, the organization is a founding member of the international consortium "Reading and Writing for Critical Thinking," in which Daiva Penkauskienė has previously served as a board member and chairperson. Her dedication to advancing critical thinking education both locally and globally underscores her commitment to fostering intellectual growth and empowerment within educational communities.

#### **Dimitris Pnevmatikos**

Professor in the Department of Psychology, School of Humanities and Social Sciences, University of Western Macedonia, Greece dpnevmat@uowm.gr

#### Creating Critical Thinking Professionals: Challenges for Higher Education and Strategies for Enhancing Critical Thinking

In today's era, characterized by an unprecedented influx of information and rapid technological advancements, the imperative for professionals who excel in critical thinking has never been more pronounced. Higher education institutions stand at the forefront of this endeavor, tasked with forming individuals capable of critical analysis, adaptability, and complex problem-solving. This keynote explores the significant challenges faced by these institutions in nurturing critical thinking skills and outlines actionable strategies to bolster students' critical thinking capabilities. The discourse initiates with an exploration of the critical need for such skills amidst the current landscape of information saturation and technological progression. It scrutinizes the obstacles that higher education faces in its mission to cultivate critical thinkers who are not only well-versed in their respective domains but are also adept at analyzing, evaluating, and synthesizing information efficiently. Moreover, the keynote presents a suite of pragmatic approaches that educators and academic institutions can adopt to foster critical thinking. These encompass active learning methodologies, cross-disciplinary tactics, experiential learning environments, and the integration of technology to refine problem-solving abilities, drawing on successful implementations within various projects. A significant focus is placed on the importance of faculty development in promoting a critical thinking ethos within educational frameworks, highlighting the necessity for continuous training and support. The discussion extends to the critical evaluation of assessment techniques that effectively gauge critical thinking prowess. In wrapping up, the keynote reaffirms the indispensable role of higher education in equipping students with the essential critical thinking skills needed to excel in an increasingly complex and volatile world. By acknowledging the prevailing challenges and deploying efficacious strategies, academic institutions are poised to cultivate a forthcoming cadre of critical-thinking professionals, ready to confront the multifaceted challenges of the 21st century with assurance and adaptability.

#### **BIOGRAPHY**

Dimitris Pnevmatikos, PhD, currently serves as the Vice-Head of the Department of Psychology at the University of Western Macedonia in Greece, a department he founded in 2019. Additionally, he holds the position of head of the Lab of Cognitive Science and is a prominent member of the Primary Education Department, where he has made significant contributions to various graduate and postgraduate courses. Throughout his

16

career, Prof. Pnevmatikos has been deeply involved in academia and research. He served as the head of the Post-graduate Program in Educational Sciences and has supervised an impressive number of theses, including 14 PhDs and three postdoctoral projects. His scholarly contributions extend to over 130 articles and books, covering diverse topics within psychology and education. Notably, he authored the Greek national books for 1st-grade mathematics, demonstrating his impact on education at a foundational level. Prof. Pnevmatikos is highly engaged in professional organizations and committees. He has held key positions, such as Executive Committee member and SIG Coordinator, within the European Association for Research in Learning and Instruction (EARLI) and the Hellenic Psychological Society. Moreover, he served as President of the Association for Values and Knowledge Education (AVaKE) from 2018 to 2022. His expertise is widely recognized within the academic community, as evidenced by his involvement in reviewing for numerous scientific journals and serving on their editorial boards. He also guest-edited a Special Issue on Critical Thinking for the Journal of Education Sciences in 2023. Prof. Pnevmatikos has led several pivotal national and European projects as the principal investigator. These projects, including FP6, Thales, ARISTEIA, and HORI-ZON2020, as well as ERASMUS+, have contributed significantly to advancing STEM education, understanding cognitive mechanisms in children, designing teacher training courses, fostering critical thinking skills education, and developing Social Assistive Robots (SARs) and digital platforms for schools.

#### Luís Sebastião

Associate Professor in the Department of Pedagogy and Education, Director of the Center for Research in Education and Psychology, University of Évora, Portugal lmss@uevora.pt

#### **How Critical is Critical Thinking?**

Critical thinking has been identified as a cross-cutting skill that contributes, particularly in the twenty-first century, to academic and professional success in so-called knowledge societies. To the point where the expression "critical thinking" has become a kind of "mantra", repeated ad nauseam, as a "remedy" against all material and spiritual evils. However, a very particular sense of the word "critical" is worth considering: the one that arises from the so-called "critical theory", which concerns itself with the relationship between theory and practice and assumes a commitment to the transformation of reality. We can thus understand critical thinking, whether as a strategy for problem-solving and establishing the truth of facts, as opposed to dogmatic and vulgar thinking, or as thinking committed to improving human life conditions. In the first sense, critical thinking is merely instrumental. In the second, it is emancipatory. In this framework, the position advocated here is that it is not enough to advocate for developing critical thinking skills in our young students. Still, we must also ask ourselves how critical the critical thinking we are promoting is. And that obliges us to consider and discuss the axiological framework in which we develop our efforts to promote critical thinking in our societies.

#### **BIOGRAPHY**

Luís Sebastião holds a degree in Biology and Geology Teaching (1983) and a PhD in Educational Sciences with a specialization in Philosophy of Education (2001). His primary areas of research and teaching are Fundamentals of Education, Education for Citizenship, and Bioethics. He has authored books, book chapters, and articles in national and international journals within these fields. For extended periods, Luís Sebastião has held managerial roles in both university and public administration. He served as Chairman of the Board of Directors of the Instituto Português da Juventude from 1993 to 1996 and as Director of the Department of Pedagogy and Education, where he is an Associate Professor, from 2001 to 2009 and again from 2017 to 2019. He was Pro-Rector from 2002 to 2006 and is currently the Director of the Center for Research in Education and Psychology (CIEP). Additionally, he is a member of the Ethics Committee of the University of Évora.

#### **Alistair Starling**

Co-Founder and Managing Director of the European Diplomats, Germany a.starling@european-diplomats.eu

# Business Diplomacy: A Symphony of Critical Thinking, Business Acumen, and AI Readiness in the Global Landscape

In the dynamic and interconnected global landscape, Alistair Starling will emphasize the pivotal role of critical thinking and critical reasoning skills as transversal competencies in the realm of business diplomacy. Framed within the context of a symphony, the presentation will highlight the harmonious interplay of critical thinking, business acumen, and AI readiness, underscoring their collective significance in navigating the complexities of the modern business environment. The session will commence by exploring the evolving nature of business diplomacy, shedding light on the intricate dance between nations, corporations, and emerging technologies. Drawing parallels to a symphony, Alistair Starling will draw attention to the need for a balanced and well-orchestrated approach that seamlessly integrates critical thinking with business acumen and AI readiness. Central to Alistair Starling's presentation is the exposition of critical thinking as a transversal skill, acting as the conductor of the symphony. Participants will gain insights into the importance of fostering analytical, evaluative, and problem-solving abilities to make informed decisions in a rapidly changing global context. Alistair Starling will delve into real-world examples, illustrating how businesses and diplomats leverage critical thinking to navigate geopolitical challenges, negotiate deals, and foster international collaborations. Furthermore, the keynote will explore the symbiotic relationship between critical thinking and business acumen. Attendees will be guided through strategies for developing a keen understanding of market dynamics, identifying opportunities, and mitigating risks. The presentation will highlight the essential role of critical reasoning in strategic decision-making, emphasizing its impact on long-term organizational success. As the symphony unfolds, the spotlight will shift to AI readiness, with Alistair Starling underscoring the imperative of integrating technology into the business diplomacy repertoire. The audience will be encouraged to embrace AI as an ally, leveraging its capabilities to enhance decision-making processes while acknowledging the ethical considerations that accompany its use. In conclusion, Alistair Starling's keynote will leave participants with a comprehensive understanding of how critical thinking, business acumen, and AI readiness harmonize to create a symphony of success in the global business arena. The call to action will be to cultivate these transversal skills, positioning individuals and organizations to navigate the intricate melodies of business diplomacy with confidence and foresight.

#### **BIOGRAPHY**

Alistair Starling is a former UK Diplomat, at the Foreign & Commonwealth Office (FCO) where he assisted companies in trading and investing internationally for 10 years. He

19

is multilingual, fluent in English, Italian, and German, and has intermediate proficiency in French. Leveraging his 20 years of experience in the private sector and 10 years in the government sector, he specializes in business development, design, and innovation across first, second, and third-sector organizations. Alistair has been involved in the founding teams of several startups, including The Cambridge Hub and IconMedialab, gaining an understanding of the pace and focus of the commercial sector. He led complex government sales development efforts across Europe and Africa for a well-known brand based in Cambridge. Alistair holds two Master's degrees, one from the University of Cambridge, and an undergraduate degree in the creative industries. He is a confident public speaker and has presented numerous times on TV, fostering active communities of contacts across Europe.

#### Erika Vaiginienė

Associate professor in the Department of Business, Faculty of Economics and Business Administration, Vilnius University, Lithuania erika.vaiqiniene@cr.vu.lt

### Critical Thinking in the Context of Socio-Technical Revolution: Risks and Opportunities

Profession-oriented universities, as we know them now, were developed due to the Industrial Revolution. In-depth knowledge of a particular discipline was the precondition for efficiency and efficacy in a workplace. The forthcoming Socio-Technical Revolution challenges universities to a radical transformation. It calls for a shift towards (or a return to) mastering skills rather than just mastering a profession. This presentation aims to discuss opportunities and risks opening up for gaining critical thinking skills.

#### **BIOGRAPHY**

Erika Vaiginienė is an Associate Professor at the Faculty of Economics and Business Administration at Vilnius University. With a career spanning 23 years in various capacities within the higher education system, she has gained extensive experience as a lecturer, researcher, manager, and evaluator. Erika Vaiginienė's expertise extends to policy advising research projects, with a track record of implementing over 30 such projects since 2008. Notably, she served as the leading methodological advisor for the preparation of "Lithuania 2050", demonstrating her significant contributions to strategic planning initiatives. Active in professional associations, Erika Vaiginienė is a member of the Academy of Management since 2003, the EuroMed Research Business Institute since 2008, and the Foresight Europe Network since 2022. Her commitment to professional development is evident through her certifications as a Research Manager by the European Foundation for Management Development (EFMD) and as a Change Management Integrator by the Adizes Institute, USA. Furthermore, Erika Vaiginienė holds several certificates in foresight methodologies, highlighting her dedication to staying abreast of emerging trends and methodologies in her field.

### All sessions



# Analysis of Ethical Problems Based on Theory and Practiceof Logical Thinking: An Educational Model

#### Rasa Aškinytė

Institute of Educational Sciences, Faculty of Philosophy, Vilnius University, Lithuania rasairasai@gmail.com

Critical thinking is an essential skill in all fields, including education of ethics and moral reasoning itself. The fundamental thesis and research object of this presentation is that Aristotelian logic may foster critical thinking in moral education and beyond.

This presentation will explore a few theoretical fundamentals, including the interconnectedness between critical and logical thinking, the interface between ethics and logic as well as the possibility to teach/learn ethics following the rules of logical thinking.

Besides the theoretical background, the aim of this research was to create and test a framework for applicability and relevance of Aristotelian logic in lessons of ethics in secondary schools, to develop a methodology and to analyse its practical applicability. The experiment was conducted in 2008-2009 with students of 9-10 grades (98 participants in the experimental group and 102 in the control group). For 6 months, a teacher implemented the methodology of moral learning, including logical thinking. Based on the quantitative test on logical thinking, the treatment group obtained a significantly higher post-test score compared to the control group, which suggests that the methodology had helped to improve students' logical thinking in the moral domain. The experiment was partly repeated in 2024 with the aim to test moral reasoning skills and include logics into the moral education programme.

Logical (e.g., critical) thinking helps to move away from rigidly categorical thinking and to be able to make reflective judgements about the adequacy of varying perspectives. That helps to achieve the main goal of moral education (and education in general) – for school kids to become better thinkers and better people.

**Keywords**: *Critical thinking, logic, ethics, moral education, moral reasoning* 

### Critical Thinking Through Literary Criticism or Thirteen Ways of Looking at a Blackbird

#### Linara Bartkuvienė

Vilnius University, Lithuania linara.bartkuviene@flf.vu.lt

This talk is about the role of critical thinking as both an intellectual and ethical tool in teaching literary criticism in a university English literature class. Critical thinking must consider diverse viewpoints and their ethical implications in critical reception; otherwise, it falls short of being truly critical. The first section sets the stage for the university classroom as an ideal interpretative community, where diverse epistemological assumptions shape textual meanings. This reflection draws on Stanley Fish's theory of interpretative communities, David Bleich's theory of epistemological assumptions, and Wolfgang Iser's phenomenology of reading to understand how these theories inform literary analysis and define our comprehension and reception of literature as an academic discipline and its pedagogy. In contrast, the second section transitions from theory to practice, outlining academic pedagogical strategies for teaching literary criticism, such as research-based discussions, writing assignments, and smallscale research projects. This part focuses on the practical challenges and realities of helping students analyse, interpret, and evaluate literature to cultivate their critical mindset. Practical examples and authentic case studies will be provided, illustrating how a text can be read from multiple perspectives using diverse theories. Reflections on challenges, such as balancing group validation (group-centered thought) with individual (self-centered) thought, will also be included. This suggests that critical thinking does not exist in a vacuum but interacts with our underlying assumptions about knowledge and reality. A university English literature class is an environment where students can develop critical thinking, intellectual, and hence ethical character. By integrating theoretical insights with practical strategies, we can prepare students for both academic and real-world challenges.

**Keywords:** critical thinking, literary criticism, literary analysis, interpretation, epistemological assumptions.

#### **REFERENCES**

- Bleich, D. (1980). Epistemological Assumptions in the Study of Response. In J. P. Tompkins (Ed.), Reader-Response Criticism. From Formalism to Post-Structuralism (pp. 134-164). Baltimore, MD: The Johns Hopkins University Press.
- Elder, L. (2019). Liberating the Mind. Overcoming Sociocentric Thought and Egocentric Tendencies. Maryland: Rowman & Littlefield.
- Fish, E.S. (1980). Interpreting the *Variorum*. In J. P. Tompkins (Ed.), *Reader-Response Criticism*. From Formalism to Post-Structuralism (pp. 164-185). Baltimore, MD: The Johns Hopkins University Press.
- Frye, N. (2000). Anatomy of Criticism. Princeton and Oxford: Princeton University Press.
- Iser, W. (1980). The Reading Process: A Phenomenological Approach. In J. P. Tompkins (Ed.), *Reader-Response Criticism. From Formalism to Post-Structuralism* (pp. 50-70). Baltimore, MD: The Johns Hopkins University Press.

### Critical Thinking Beyond Disciplines: How to Measure the Immeasurable?

#### **Evelina Burokė**

Institute of Educational Sciences, Vilnius University, Lithuania evelina.buroke@fsf.stud.vu.lt

Background: As the world faces complex global challenges, such as climate change and health crises, innovative and collaborative solutions are becoming increasingly urgent (Klein, 1990). This urgency highlights the role of interdisciplinarity in higher education institutions, positioning it not merely as an academic ideal but as an essential framework for addressing multifaceted problems. Despite its theoretical importance, a significant gap exists between the valorisation and practical application of interdisciplinarity in higher education.

**Purpose:** This presentation aims to bridge the existing gap by demonstrating how universities can effectively implement interdisciplinarity, transforming it from a conceptual ideal into a measurable, practice-oriented approach that enhances reflection, critical thinking, and communication skills as a means of interdisciplinary understanding across disciplines (Spelt 2009).

**Methodology:** The approach involved results from a pilot quantitative study employed in 2023 using the Interdisciplinary Understanding Questionnaire (IUQ) designed by Schijf et al. (2022). This instrument assessed Lithuanian students' understanding of interdisciplinary, focusing on their knowledge of various disciplinary paradigms, interdisciplinarity, and skills in communication, collaboration, reflection, and critical reflection.

**Results:** Preliminary findings indicate significant variations in students' understanding of interdisciplinary and critical reflection skills, highlighting disparities based on disciplinary backgrounds. The results suggest a correlational relationship between the level of understanding of interdisciplinary and the students' academic disciplines.

**Conclusion:** The study underscores the necessity for universities to adopt approaches to interdisciplinary beyond theoretical acknowledgement. By fostering an educational environment that genuinely integrates interdisciplinarity into the teaching and learning processes, universities can better equip students to tackle real-world problems effectively. This shift requires curricular adjustments and a cultural change within institutions to nurture critical and reflective thinking across disciplinary boundaries.

**Keywords**: Interdisciplinarity, higher education, critical thinking, educational strategies, quantitative research

# Developing Creativity as a Precondition of Critical Thinking in Language Studies at the University of Health Sciences Using Non-traditional Activities

#### **Edita Butrimė**

Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Lithuania edita.butrime@lsmu.lt

#### Silvija Rakutienė

Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Lithuania silvija.rakutiene@lsmu.lt

#### Dalija Gudaitytė

Lithuanian University of Health Sciences, Lithuania dalija.gudaityte@lsmu.lt

Critical thinking, like other abilities formed by liberal education, should be developed with the help of active learning methods while studying not only general university education, but also professional education disciplines. An educated person must be able to interpret information creatively and make informed decisions based on data. Creativity is no longer associated only with the field of art and culture, but also with education, business, research and health studies, emphasizing such components as hypothesis generation, synthesis, analysis, application of existing knowledge in various fields. The importance of creativity in higher education is revealed through the unique feature representing creativity - the ability to make unique decisions in new and diverse situations.

The mission and goals of the institution that trains health specialists include aspects such as social responsibility, development of scientific research, and public involvement. Communication skills, the ability to learn and develop professional qualifications throughout life are perceived as necessary competencies to ensure successful medical practice. An educational institution should promote students' critical thinking and develop problemsolving skills. Also, the student must be encouraged to take responsibility for his own learning process and be prepared for life-long independent learning. This means the need to choose appropriate teaching and learning methods and methods that cover all areas -knowledge, skills, values.

The purpose of the report is to discuss the experience of developing creativity as a precondition for critical thinking in language studies at the University of Health Sciences using non-traditional activities. The following activities of the Department of Languages and Education are presented in the report: video simulations "Visit to the Vet", multimedia project "I Am Talking about my World", festival "Languages Day", improvement of practical language skills by organizing excursions to Kaunas museums, travelling to Italy and France, as well as using tandem learning method. The peculiarity of these activities is that both Lithuanian and international students participate and learn together. The aim of those

activities is bringing together the LSMU community, reducing the gap between Lithuanian and international students, and increasing interest in various languages and cultures of the world. It is assumed that these activities provide opportunities to develop the creativity of health science students, which corresponds to one of the assumptions of critical thinking

**Keywords**: creativity, critical thinking precondition, university of health sciences, language studies, non-traditional activities

#### The Disco+ Project and Critical Thinking

#### Guillaume Caillaud

University of Caen, France guillaume.caillaud@unicaen.fr

The Disco+ project is an Erasmus+ project for the initial and in-service training of STEM (Science, Technology, Engineering and Mathematics) teachers in various European countries (Lithuania, Romania, Hungary, Spain, Italy and France). The objectives of this project are to train teachers to include students with special needs, to focus on science teaching and to implement an intercultural approach. The cooperative practice of teachers working in transnational teams to design their teaching situations is at the heart of the project.

Teaching science, even with the aim of including as many pupils as possible, must involve the development of critical thinking, because teaching science and getting pupils aged 8 to 14 to do science means making them understand that data can be questioned, and that methods can also be questioned. Including students does not mean lowering standards.

The project is divided into four phases:

- four eTwinning training sessions involving around 100 participants (and 12 trainers), culminating in posters (STEM, inclusion, critical thinking, gender equality) which were presented in Vilnius last week.
- the production and testing of a serious game designed to question inclusion in STEM situations.
- the production of STEM sessions that will be tested identically in the six countries, in order to extract comparative analyses in which the question of critical thinking will be an important focus of analysis.
- the production of a MOOC combining all the work carried out to offer open-source training.

We are currently at the stage of summarising the posters, which show that critical thinking in science applies both when initial representations are made and processed, and when the experimental results obtained are discussed. The game is currently being tested and will be improved in mid-June 2024.

**Keywords:** Critical thinking, science, inclusion, teacher training, teaching.

# Debate as a Pedagogical Tool for Verbal Communication Skills at the Tertiary Level: Does it Offer More?

#### Handan Çelik

Fatih Faculty of Education, Trabzon University, Türkiye handancelik@trabzon.edu.tr

#### Nalan Bayraktar Balkır

School of Foreign Languages, Çanakkale Onsekiz Mart University, Türkiye nbayraktar@comu.edu.tr

Debate has long been regarded as a teaching strategy to promote critical thinking and collaborative learning (Brown, 2015; Oros, 2007). Scholars regard debate as a teaching technique promoting higher order thinking skills (Dipta et al., 2023). However, lack of research on debate activities at tertiary level is also emphasized (O'Neill, 2024). Therefore, in the current study we employed debate as a pedagogical practice. Students (N=35) studying at the English language teaching program at a state university in Türkiye worked in groups of five to six and debated with against each other in Verbal Communication Skills course for six weeks around such topics of social issues as emergency and first aid during earthquakes, climate change, environmental catastrophes, fires, and deforestation, and gender equality/ inequality. The students were required to read two to three background texts and watch video clips on the topic to stimulate their interest, activate their knowledge and acquire relevant knowledge. This also aimed at enabling them to mind map to review the ideas and sub-ideas of all the texts and videos. Volunteers as camera operators recorded the debating teams' performance. The debating teams were later asked to watch the video of their debates and reflect on it individually around such aspects as their verbal and non-verbal communication skills, group cooperation skills, and linguistic skills to argue for and against the debate topic. They were also asked to evaluate what enabled them to get stronger in their verbal and non-verbal communication skills. The results showed that the students considered that they worked and cooperated very well, kept improving despite such problems with tone, pace, eye contact, or gestures in the first few debates. Later reflections revealed that the students become more critical of their debate performance in terms of adequate and effective participation, speech confidence, and the role of adequate preparation.

**Keywords:** classroom pedagogy, communication skills, debate, English language learners, group cooperation.

#### **REFERENCES**

- Brown, Z. (2015). The use of in-class debates as a teaching strategy in increasing students' critical thinking and collaborative learning skills in higher education. *e-Journal of the British Education Studies Association*, 7(1), 39-55.
- Dipta, D., Haikal, M., Nuraini, E. I. Virgiyanti, D. F., Fachriza, A., Mahastu, P. J., & Ramadhani, A. (2023). Debating as a systematic teaching technique to promote HOTS (Higher Order Thinking Skills). English Teaching Journal: A Journal of English Literature, Linguistics, and Education, 11(2), 82-88.
- O'Neill, L. D. (2024). Assessment of student debates in support of active learning? Students' perceptions of a debate-based oral final exam. *Active Learning in Higher Education. https://doi.org/10.1177/14697874241245665*
- Oros, A. L. (2007). Let's debate: active learning encourages student participation and critical thinking. *Journal of Political Science Education*, 3(3), 293-311. https://doi.org/10.1080/15512160701558273

# Interweaving Critical Thinking Skills, Reflective Writing, and Intercultural Communicative Competence: Their Role in Intercultural Education

#### Loreta Chodzkienė

Faculty of Philology, Vilnius University, Lithuania loreta.chodzkiene@flf.vu.lt

In today's increasingly globalised world, effective engagement across diverse cultures is of utmost importance. While institutions of higher education prioritize the development of students' intercultural awareness, the role of critical thinking and reflective writing remain underexplored. This paper investigates the intertwinement of intercultural communicative competence (ICC), critical thinking skills, and reflection in intercultural education. Specifically, it examines how critical thinking contributes to students' ability to interpret and evaluate observations in intercultural encounters, and to reflect on diverse perspectives.

The research question guiding this study is: How do critical thinking skills and reflective writing contribute to the development of students' intercultural communicative competence? The study aims to elucidate the role of critical thinking skills and reflective writing in the course of "Intercultural Communication" through a project-based task designed for international students. Equipped with theoretical knowledge in the subject, introduced to the basics of critical thinking and reflective writing, the students embarked on a semester-length project to explore the socio-cultural aspects of the host country (in this case, Lithuania) and reflect on their experiences in diaries. To achieve the aim, there were pursued two objectives: firstly, to conduct a comprehensive literature review on critical thinking, reflective writing, and intercultural communicative competence to identify theoretical connections. Secondly, to analyze how critical thinking and reflective writing skills contribute to the development of students' ICC. Drawing on the empirical evidence from 112 students (informants) representing 22 countries, the paper provides insights into the dynamics of students' ICC development, identifies a range of key skills necessary to be developed in intercultural education, and offers considerations for future research and practice.

**Keywords**: critical thinking, reflective writing, development of intercultural communicative competence, international students, intercultural encounters

#### **REFERENCES**

Cottrell, S. (2017). Critical thinking skills: Effective analysis, argument and reflection (3rd ed.). Macmillan international.

Deardorff, D. K. (2015). Intercultural competence: Mapping the future research agenda. International Journal of Intercultural Relations, Vol. 48, 3-5.

Esen, M. (2021). Critical Thinking and Intercultural Competence: Review, Use, and Classification of the 21st Century Skills in Intercultural EFL Education. International Journal of English Language Teaching 8(1), 23-32.

Facione, P. A. (8 December 2016). Critical thinking: what it is and why it counts. Insight Assessment Farrel, T. S. C. (2022). Doing reflective practice in English Language Teaching. Routledge.

Fisher, A. (2001). Critical thinking: An Introduction. Cambridge University Press.

Fisher, A., Scriven, M. (1997). Critical thinking. Its definition and assessment. Edge Press.

Hunter, D. (2014). A practical guide to critical thinking: deciding what to do and believe (2nd ed.). WILEY.

Inch, E. S., & Tudor, K. H. (2014). Critical thinking and communication: the use of reason in argument. Pearson.

Miller, J. W., & Tucker, J. S. (2015). Addressing and assessing critical thinking in intercultural contexts: Investigating the distance learning outcomes of military leaders. International Journal of Intercultural Relations, Vol. 48, 120-136.

Moore, B. N., & Parker, R. (2021). Critical Thinking (13th edition). McGraw-Hill Education.

Sobkowiak, P. (2016). Critical thinking in the intercultural context: Investigating EFL textbooks. Studies in Second Language Learning and Teaching, 6(4), 697-716.

# Critical Reflections: Student Teachers' Critical Thinking Competencies in the Context of Education for Sustainable Development

#### Panagiota Christodoulou & Anastasios Papanikolaou

Department of Primary Education, University of Western Macedonia, Greece pchristodoulou@uowm.gr apapanikolaou@uowm.gr

UNESCO's 2030 Agenda for Education for Sustainable Development (ESD) emphasises critical thinking (CT) among the necessary competencies that prospective teachers should have to tackle global challenges like environmental sustainability and social justice. At the same time, CT is crucial for nurturing informed, responsible global citizens ready to contribute to a just society. Meeting these demands requires higher education instructors to transform their teaching by employing active, student-centred methods like case-based teaching. Still, this transformation is challenging for higher education instructors and the empirical evidence remains scarce. The aim of the current study was to explore CT in teacher education through Education for Sustainable Development (ESD), analysing nine undergraduates' responses in case studies for practicum preparation.

Our bottom-up content analysis revealed eight higher order categories. The analysis indicates that student-teachers engage with thinking processes akin to established CT models proposed by scholars like Dewey, Brookfield, and Garrison. That notwithstanding, student-teachers encountered challenges while engaging with the case studies, such as difficulties in comprehending complex problems and reasoning sufficiently. As a second step, we used the Critical Thinking Quality of Response Rubric (CTQRR) to assess the quality of student-teacher CT. The interrater agreement was high (k=.86) and after discussion, the two raters reached full consensus. Three CT competence levels emerged from the rubric assessment: the deficient, emerging, and competent critical thinkers.

Our findings have practical implications for teacher education. Higher education instructors can enhance student-teacher CT through scaffolded interventions that refine their epistemological beliefs and boost their comprehension and argumentation skills. The rubric assessment highlights the necessity for higher education instructors to implement structured CT development strategies that are tailored to different student-teacher CT profiles.

**Keywords:** Critical thinking, education for sustainable development, teacher education, case studies, Critical Thinking Quality of Response Rubric

# The Importance of Critical Thinking in the Development of Practical Skills in Nursing Students

#### Indrė Čergelytė-Podgrušienė

Vilnius University, Faculty of Medicine, Institute of Health Sciences, Department of Nursing, Lithuania Indre.cergelyte-podgrusiene@mf.vu.lt

Critical thinking is a skill that allows individuals to properly assess the information being received and choose what is important and appropriate. Critical thinking is essential for nursing students because many students are not good at solving problems, tend to learn without selecting information, do not differentiate the vital from the trivial, and lack intrinsic motivation to think. Therefore, it is necessary for students studying in nursing programmes to think critically, that is, to critically analyse and assess situations and problems, argue, draw reasonable conclusions, and independently make decisions and take responsibility for them. All of this helps students to learn successfully and to develop mature, thoughtful, independent, proactive individuals, who can adapt to understanding challenges and real situations.

The importance of critical thinking for nursing students during classes will be analysed during the presentation, and active learning methods that help nursing students critically think and engage with various nursing situations will be discussed.

**Keywords**: *education*; *critical thinking*; *nursing students*; *methods* 

#### Development of Critical Thinking through Phenomenon-Based Learning: Experiences of Foreign Language Teachers

#### Nijolė Čiučiulkienė

Vytautas Magnus University, Lithuania nijole.ciuciulkiene@vdu.lt

#### Ilona Tandzegolskienė-Bielaglovė

Vytautas Magnus University, Lithuania ilona.tandzegolskiene-bielaglove@vdu.lt

#### Martyna Čuladienė

Vytautas Magnus University, Lithuania culadiene.martyna@gmail.com

The current research findings state that Phenomenon-based learning (further PhenoBL) is one of the successful didactic innovations that enable the development of Four Competencies: Creativity, Critical thinking, Collaboration, and Communication. Still, as with every innovation, PhenoBL provokes a lot of argumentative reasoning the major ideas of which might be grouped into pros and cons that are centered around the failure or success of the implementation of innovation. The research tries to answer the question of how are foreign language teachers in Lithuania prepared to apply the PhenoBL method in TFL in Lithuanian schools.

As there are not so many investigations directed toward the teachers' attitudes about the results of the implementation of PhenoBL, especially in FLT (Foreign Language Teaching), this research aims to examine the attitudes of foreign language teachers in Lithuania, about the implementation of the PhenoB, while employing the quantitative research approach. The quantitative survey results have indicated the relevance of having foundational knowledge about the processes of any innovation implementation, revealed the importance of didactic knowledge about the PhenoBL itself, highlighted the role of the teacher as a guide in the process, and the complementary nature of teaching languages using PhenoBL without replacing the curriculum. The teachers stressed the idea that the PhenoBL focuses on the process rather than the final product and can be integrated differently depending on the linguistic abilities of the learners which empowers students not only to manage the language learning process themselves but also puts emphasis on increasing critical thinking abilities.

**Keywords:** critical thinking; foreign language teaching; innovative methods; phenomenon-based learning

#### **REFERENCES**

- Akkas, E., & Eker, C. (2021). The Effect of Phenomenon-Based Learning Approach on Students' Metacognitive Awareness. Educational Research and Reviews, 16(5), 181-188.]
- Binkley, M., Erstad, O., Herman, J., Raizen, S., Ripley, M., Miller-Ricci, M., & Rumble, M.(2012). Defining twenty-first century skills. Assessment and teaching of 21st century skills, 17-66.
- Čiuciulkiene, N., & Stankeviciene, E. (2014). PBL as a premise for the emancipation of students speaking English skills in the university of applied sciences IŠŠŪKIAI IR SOCIALINĖ ATSA-KOMYBĖ VERSLE. Kaunas
- Ciuciulkiene, N., Tandzegolskiene-Bielaglove, I., & Culadiene, M. (2023). Phenomenon-Based Learning in Teaching a Foreign Language: Experiences of Lithuanian Teachers. Social Sciences, 12(12), 670.
- Fields, D. L. (2018). 101 Scaffolding Techniques for the Language and Content Teaching. Barcelona: Editorial Octaedro.
- Grusche, S. (2019). Phenomenon-based learning and model-based teaching: Do they match? In Journal of Physics: Conference Series (Vol. 1287, No. 1, p. 012066). IOP Publishing.
- Johnson, M. (2021). Implementing Phenomenon Based Learning Into English Language Development Curriculum.
- Kangas, M., & Rasi, P. (2021). Phenomenon-Based learning of multiliteracy in a Finnish upper secondary school. Media Practice and Education, 22(4), 342-359.
- Makarova, T. S., Matveeva, E. E., Molchanova, M. A., Morozova, E. A. (2020). Phenomenon-based approach to teaching Russian as a foreign language in the cultural context. European Proceedings of Social and Behavioural Sciences, 95.
- Mamatkulovna, D. N. (2023). Theoretical foundation of phenomenon-based learning approach to teaching. Best journal of innovation in science, research and development, 82-88.
- Marsh, D., Pérez, W. D., & Morales, M. E. (2019). Enhancing language awareness and competence-building through a fusion of phenomenon-based learning and content and language integration. Journal of E-learning and Knowledge Society, 15(1).
- Meriläinen, Merja, & Maarika Piispanen. (2012). Learning as a phenomenon–Manuscript of phenomenon-based learning. In EDULEARN12 Proceedings, Proceedings of the 4th International Conference on Education and New Learning Technologies, Barcelona, Spain, 2–4 July 2012. Barcelona: IATED, pp. 5447–54.
- Mulisa, F. (2022). When Does a Researcher Choose a Quantitative, Qualitative, or Mixed Research Approach?. Interchange, 53(1), 113-131.
- Nguyen, H. P. (2018). Phenomenon-based learning in Finnish and Vietnamese upper secondary school curriculum for English as a foreign language.
- Silander, P. (2015). Rubric for Phenomenon Based Learning. Retrieved October 5, 2016, from http://www.phenomenaleducation.info/phenomenon-based-learning.
- Symeonidis, V., & Schwarz, J. F. (2016, December). Phenomenon-based teaching and learning through the pedagogical lenses of phenomenology: The recent curriculum reform in Finland. In Forum Oświatowe (Vol. 28, No. 2 (56), pp. 31-47). University of Lower Silesia.]
- Valanne, E., Al Dhaheri, R., Kylmalahti, R., & Sandholm-Rangell, H. (2017). Phenomenon based learning implemented in Abu Dhabi school model. International Journal of Humanities and Social Sciences, 9(3), 1-17.
- Varzari, E. (2022). Teaching the Speech Act of Praise via the Phenomenon-Based Approach. In Probleme de filologie: aspecte teoretice şi practice (pp. 137-143).
- Wakil, K., Rahman, R., Hasan, D., Mahmood, P., & Jalal, T. (2019). Phenomenon-based learning for teaching ict subject through other subjects in primary schools. Journal of Computer and Education Research, 7(13), 205-212.
- Wilson, D., & Conyers, M. (2016). Teaching students to drive their brains: Metacognitive strategies, activities, and lesson ideas.

# The Role of Perceived Importance of Critical Thinking Skills and Self-Reported Critical Thinking Skills for Work Engagement

#### Aistė Diržytė

Institute of Psychology, Faculty of Human and Social Studies, Mykolas Romeris University, Lithuania aiste.dirzyte@mruni.eu

#### Valdonė Indrašienė

Institute of Educational Sciences and Social Work, Faculty of Human and Social Studies, Mykolas Romeris University, Lithuania v.indrasiene@mruni.eu

#### Violeta Jegelevičienė

Institute of Educational Sciences and Social Work, Faculty of Human and Social Studies, Mykolas Romeris University, Lithuania violeta.suboc@mruni.eu

#### Odeta Merfeldaitė

Institute of Educational Sciences and Social Work, Faculty of Human and Social Studies, Mykolas Romeris University, Lithuania o.merfeldaite@mruni.eu

#### Daiva Penkauskienė

Institute of Educational Sciences and Social Work, Faculty of Human and Social Studies, Mykolas Romeris University, Lithuania daiva.penkauskiene@gmail.com

#### Jolanta Pivorienė

Institute of Educational Sciences and Social Work, Faculty of Human and Social Studies, Mykolas Romeris University, Lithuania jolantapiv@mruni.eu

#### Asta Railienė

Institute of Educational Sciences and Social Work, Faculty of Human and Social Studies, Mykolas Romeris University, Lithuania asta.railiene@mruni.eu

#### **Justinas Sadauskas**

Institute of Educational Sciences and Social Work, Faculty of Human and Social Studies, Mykolas Romeris University, Lithuania justas\_sad@mruni.eu

**Research question:** How are the perceived importance of CT skills and self-reported CT skills associated with work engagement?

**Background.** Numerous studies have revealed that CT and work engagement are interlinked concepts important for an organisation success. CT can foster employees' engagement and motivation and, vice versa, high work engagement can promote CT. However, it is not clear whether employees with higher levels of CT skills are likely to exhibit greater work engagement. The role of self-reported CT skills as a mediator in the link between the perceived importance of CT skills and work engagement is under-researched.

**The purpose** of this study was to explore the links between the perceived importance of CT skills, self-reported CT skills, and work engagement.

**Methodology.** The study applied a cross-sectional design, and the sample consisted of 2012 employees; the mean age was 41.93 (SD=11.42). To analyse the links between the constructs, three instruments were used: The Work Engagement Scale (UWES), the Perceived Importance of the CT Skills Scale (PICTS), and the Self-Reported CT Skills Scale (CTS). For the statistical analyses, SPSS v.26.0, AMOS v.26.0, JASP v.18 and JAMOVI v.2.2.1 were applied. CFA showed the acceptable model fit and validity of the scales in the Lithuanian population.

Results and conclusion. The structural equation modelling (SEM) results revealed the complex model of the links between the perceived importance of CT skills, self-reported CT skills, and the elements of work engagement, namely, vigour, dedication, and absorption. Several self-reported CT skills (decision-making, interpretation, analysis, and argumentation) statistically significantly mediated the links between the perceived importance of CT skills and the elements of work engagement (vigor, dedication, and absorption). However, no significant mediation effects were found between the perceived importance of CT skills, some self-reported CT skills (e.g., formulation, evaluation), and work engagement.

**Keywords**: *Critical thinking (CT), labour market, employees, work engagement.* 

# Fostering Critical Thinking in University Classrooms with Action-oriented Approach

#### Laura Giniūnienė

Vilnius University, Lithuania laura.giniuniene@flf.vu.lt

Within the framework of action-oriented approach, it is generally perceived that students need to engage actively in practicing language in real-life situations, fostering communication as a vehicle to acquire real-life skills that are applicable in their social environment (Picardo et al., 2019). Using Bloom's Taxonomy model, educators can design assignments that challenge students to analyse, create, and evaluate rather than remember and understand the information (Zapalska et al., 2018). Critical thinking abilities and problem-based learning should be integrated into language learning curricula at universities (Poštić et al., 2022).

The current presentation aims to focus on the methodological implementation of the action-oriented approach at Vilnius University, Faculty of Philology. More specifically, the overview of the tasks will be exemplified with students' responses and impressions on the activities and tasks performed in the classroom. A qualitative methodology was used to collect the data in the form of open questions using the SWOT (Strengths, Weaknesses, Opportunities and Threats) methodology from approximately 500 first-year students over a five-year period (2019 autumn semester to 2023 autumn semester).

The data were collected four times within an academic year, in the middle and at the end of each semester from students studying Computer Science and Software Engineering at the Faculty of Mathematics and Computer Science. The students were asked to share their experience, impressions and the impact the course English for academic purposes had on their work and research.

The research findings have shown that the majority of students tend to enjoy academic speaking activities, especially academic debates, learning to see stances from different perspectives, locating trustworthy scientific sources to prove their argument, analysing research articles and collaborating as a team. Students' critical thinking, creativity, persuasiveness, and argumentation skills were emphasized as the most relevant for their academic achievements and their upcoming careers. It can thus be argued that the students have successfully learnt a great deal in the academic English course.

**Keywords**: action-oriented approach; methodology; teaching; critical thinking; students' feedback

#### **REFERENCES**

Piccardo, E., & North, B. (2019). *The action-oriented approach: A dynamic vision of language education* (Vol. 72). Multilingual Matters.

Poštić, S., Kriaučiūnienė, R., & Ivancu, O. (2023). Viewpoints on the development of critical thinking skills in the process of foreign language teaching in higher education and the labor market. *Education Sciences*, *13*(2), 152.

Zapalska, A. M., McCarty, M. D., Young-McLear, K., & White, J. (2018). Design of assignments using the 21st century Bloom's revised taxonomy model for development of critical thinking skills. Problems and Perspectives in Management, 16(2), 291-305.

## **Encouraging Critical Thinking in Chemistry Classroom**

#### Julija Grigorjevaitė

Institute of Chemistry, Faculty of Chemistry and Geosciences, Vilnius University, Lithuania julija.grigorjevaite@chgf.vu.lt

The Chemistry subject in school is well known as one of the most difficult and least liked by students. Chemistry often presents complex abstract concepts and requires a strong foundation in mathematics, which can be challenging for many students to understand. Critical thinking skills enable students to approach these concepts analytically, fostering deeper understanding and the ability to connect theories with real-world applications, thus making chemistry more accessible and engaging. Another distinctive aspect of chemistry lies in its reliance on chemical models to describe phenomena. Unlike observable changes in color and substance, many chemical processes occur at the molecular level, beyond direct perception. Consequently, theories in chemistry often hinge on mathematical calculations, bridging theoretical frameworks with the tangible properties of reactions. This necessitates a nuanced understanding of abstract concepts and their practical implications, underlining the interdisciplinary nature of chemistry. Critical thinking techniques can help in learning and deepening the subject of chemistry.

In 1933, outlining his perspective on education, Dewey portrayed the reflective thinker as someone capable of adapting their cognition, decision-making processes, and conclusions by synthesizing external information with internal experiences. Dewey's impact on the discourse surrounding cognition and the formation of thoughts was profound, redirecting educational approaches from mere memorization of textbook content towards active engagement with and interpretation of the information contained within. Paradigm shift in chemistry education towards a more holistic approach that prioritizes the development of critical thinking skills alongside content knowledge. By embracing critical thinking as a cornerstone of chemical education, we can empower students to become adept problem-solvers, lifelong learners, and conscientious contributors to the scientific community and society at large.

**Keywords:** chemistry, didactics, critical thinking

## **Exploring the Turkish EFL Instructors' Perceptions of their Multicultural Teaching Competence**

#### Akın Gürbüz

Vilnius University, Philology Faculty, Lithuania akin.gurbuz@flf.vu.lt

#### Rana Yildirim

Çukurova University, Education Faculty, Türkiye ranayil@cu.edu.tr

This study aims to investigate how Turkish EFL instructors face the challenge posed by linguistically and culturally diverse students in their classrooms. More specifically, the study aimed to explore the instructor's perceptions concerning their multicultural teaching competence in terms of four dimensions, namely awareness, knowledge, attitude, and skill. A mixed-method research design was utilized to conduct the study. Through a triangulated approach, data were collected through Critical Multicultural Teaching Competency Scale (Acar-Çiftçi, 2016), video-stimulated interviews, and semi-structured interviews. A purposeful sampling method was pursued in the selection of participants and 114 EFL instructors working at the School of Foreign Languages in various universities to collect quantitative data. The qualitative data of the study were collected through video-stimulated interviews with four instructors and semi-structured interviews with 20 instructors who also responded to the scale.

The findings acquired from the scale revealed that the participating instructors perceived themselves as highly competent regarding multicultural attitudes and moderately competent in awareness, knowledge, and skill dimensions. The qualitative findings also showed that the participating instructors were amply competent in terms of multicultural teaching. In the interviews, for instance, the participating instructors particularly emphasized the cultural diversity of students and the significance of showing empathy and avoiding prejudices in regards to multicultural awareness; placed considerable emphasis on the essential role of experience for multicultural knowledge; valued diversity as richness, an opportunity for communication and learning about differences in regards to multicultural attitude; and emphasized the ability to bring students from diverse groups together for multicultural skills.

**Keywords**: Cultural and linguistic diversity, multicultural education, multicultural teaching competence, EFL.

#### **REFERENCES**

Acar-Çiftçi, Y. (2016a). Critical Multicultural Education Competencies Scale: A Scale Development Study. *Journal of Education and Learning*, *5*(3). 51-63.

#### Can we teach Economic Ethics to Al?

#### **Tom Hashimoto**

Faculty of Economics and Buisiness Administration, Vilnius University Lublin University of Technology Tomoyuki.hashimoto@evaf.vu.lt

The rising popularity of Chat GPT begins to show a sign that some people (especially younger generations) delegate their cognitive and decision-making processes to AI-driven interfaces. In business, repetitive and standardised operations are often outsourced, and as such, this phenomenon in AI cannot be negatively evaluated per se. Nevertheless, as AI increases its efficiency and effectiveness, the amount and scope of cognitive tasks AI can perform is destined to expand - but can AI perform these tasks ethically? This introductory presentation summarises the current art of AI in economic activities while considering the ways in which we can 'teach' ethics to AI. Surprisingly, the highest hurdle seems to exist not in the realm of technological advancement, but in the sphere of critical thinking.

**Keywords**: cognitive tasks, AI, economic activities, ethics, critical thinking.

### Teaching Critical Thinking: Believe Half of What You See and None of What You Hear...

#### Mark Hennessy

Maynooth University, Ireland mark.hennessy@mu.ie

How can students within Higher Education recognise, and gain the benefits of, genuine critical thinking skills relevant to both their studies and their lives outside of learning? This talk will focus on i) helping students understand some of the key factors that help inform true critical thinking and ii) an EAP classroom methodology and content for putting these factors into practice.

In Higher Education, critical thinking is an oft-used term that is almost in danger of becoming so familiar to some students that it ceases to have any real meaning, much less any practical application. It is always there but perhaps never quite understood as to how it could be utilised. Based on critical thinking lessons from the EAP unit within the School of Modern Languages, Literatures and Cultures at Maynooth University, this short talk will provide a small set of key terms used to aid students' understanding of critical thinking while also demonstrating how students can be given interactive activities within a lesson framework that lead to a better understanding of critical thinking and its benefits.

The methodology used is informed by the work of several highly prolific authors within the field of critical thinking in (English language) Higher Education and is supported by vast classroom teaching experience. The aim is to craft lessons that do not simply transmit de-contextualised theory to students but rather seeks to gradually draw them further into a discovery-type of learning experience regarding critical thinking and instil a sense of curiosity and appreciation of the topic.

The hoped-for end result is that students will become sufficiently aware of the value of critical thinking, so that they will be able employ it in their own studies and, ultimately, in their lives outside of Higher Education, in a place rather scarily known as, 'The real world....'

**Keywords**: value, scepticism, curiosity, truth, danger

#### **REFERENCES**

Brookfield, S. (2017) *Becoming a critically reflective teacher*, 2<sup>nd</sup> edn. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass Cottrell, S. (2019) *The Study Skills Handbook*, 5<sup>th</sup> edn. Bloomsbury: London

Cottrell, S. (2017) *Critical Thinking Skills: Effective Analysis, Argument and Reflection*, 3<sup>rd</sup> edn, London: Macmillan

CQUniversityOLTv (2011) *Emeritus Prof Phil Race – Learning*. Available at: Emeritus Prof Phil Race – Learning (youtube.com) date of access 10/06/2024

Grimes, D.R. *The Irrational Ape: why flawed logic puts us all at risk, and how critical thinking can save the world* (2019) London: Simon & Shuster

Race, P. (2020) The Lecturer's Toolkit FIFTH EDITION Oxon: Routledge

## Reflection on Language Teaching Process from Critical Thinking Perspectives

#### Gitana Irnienė

Institute of Foreign Languages Vilnius University gitana.irniene@flf.vu.lt

The scope of the report is the two-year educational period (from the third to the sixth semester), focusing on its goal and the steps to be taken to achieve it. The language teaching process is directly linked to the knowledge of a culture and of the way of thinking, thus, to understand and use linguistic information, it is necessary not only to memorize vocabulary, and phrases but also to know psychosocial factors:

- to know what is meant by a phrase or omission of words,
- to understand the customary way to talk about certain people, things, or events,
- to have a background on how representatives of various professions and social circles exchange information in a certain language,
- to be able to discern the meaning of information in day-to-day language and that of mass media.

Starting with the translation and contrasting as the main methods, the students gradually pass on to the text analysis. At the beginning, they are offered a simple scheme: 1 – to name characters and the event, 2 – to describe a context, and 3 – to specify the applied value. While in the course of Spanish for specific purposes taught in the 6<sup>th</sup> semester, various mass media texts and broadcasting material are used. The analysis is complemented by defining the purpose of the text: to inform or entertain, and the understanding of the context is expanded by considering the specifics of the media: its mission, vision, and the possible profile of the user. When examining the interview, special attention is paid to the formulation of the question, as well as the organisation of the text.

**Keywords:** perspective, contrasting, analysis scheme, stages of learning, context expansion

# Critical Minds at Work. Deconstructing "Waiting for the Barbarians", by J.M Coetzee

#### Ovidiu Ivancu

Vilnius University Lithuania ovidiu.ivancu @flf.vu.lt

In the realm of contemporary literature, J.M. Coetzee's "Waiting for the Barbarians" emerges as a profoundly symbolic work, engaging with pertinent themes such as power dynamics, identity formation, and the perils associated with authoritarian rule. This present study endeavours to undertake a comprehensive deconstruction of Coetzee's magnum opus, employing a diverse array of critical methodologies to meticulously unravel its intricate layers.

The investigation will explore various dimensions of "Waiting for the Barbarians," scrutinizing its treatment of themes encompassing colonialism, imperialism, and the interplay between oppression and resistance. Through close readings, comparative analyses, and interdisciplinary perspectives, the study aims to interrogate the novel's depiction of the Other, the construction of identities, and the nuanced considerations of culpability and coercion.

By scrutinizing the narrative strategies, character dynamics, and socio-political contexts within "Waiting for the Barbarians," the study seeks to elucidate its significance within the broader spectrum of postcolonial literature and contemporary intellectual discourse.

Central to this inquiry lies the examination of colonial hegemony and its repercussions on both the colonizer and the colonized. By dismantling the dichotomies inherent within the colonial narrative – namely, those of 'self' and 'other' – the study unveils the intricate interplay of dominance and subjugation, agency and resistance. Additionally, the exploration of the Magistrate's existential odyssey serves as a focal point for comprehending the existentialist currents permeating the novel, as he grapples with existential inquiries surrounding meaning, truth, and individual responsibility amidst societal injustices.

Drawing upon an array of literary theories and philosophical frameworks, the paper analyzes the strata of meaning embedded within the text. Through an exhaustive examination of characters, themes, and narrative techniques, we aim to unearth the latent messages about power dynamics, identity formation, and moral considerations within "Waiting for the Barbarians."

**Keywords:** postcolonialism, identity, literature, Coetzee, deconstructionism

#### **REFERENCES**

Coetzee, J. M. (2004). Waiting for the barbarians. Vintage.

Lochner, L. (2016). Power and the Subject in J. M. Coetzee's Waiting for the Barbarians. *A Reviewof International English Literature* 47(4), 103-134.

DelConte, M. (2007). A Further Study of Present Tense Narration: The Absentee Narratee and Four-Wall Present Tense in Coetzee's *Waiting for the Barbarians* and *Disgrace. Journal of Narrative Theory* 37(3), 427-446.

### Nurturing Critical Thinking in Nursing: How to Nurture and Develop critical Thinking in Nursing Students

#### Agnė Jakavonytė-Akstinienė

Vilnius University, Faculty of Medicine, Institute of Health Sciences, Department of Nursing, Lithuania agne.jakavonyte-akstiniene@mf.vu.lt

Critical thinking is a way of seeing one's thoughts and decision-making processes. A critical thinker cannot be easily manipulated because they think for themselves and make their own decisions. By considering all available information, choosing relevant data, critically evaluating it, and examining arguments for and against it, they form their own independent opinions.

Critical thinking is crucial for nurses, who encounter various situations on a daily basis and have to find appropriate solutions. To assess the situation and make informed decisions, nurses need to take into account several aspects: the patient's clinical assessment, the patient's safety, communication and cooperation with the patient and other team members, and the availability of problem-solving skills.

This presentation highlights the development of students' truth-seeking, open-mind-edness, analyticity, self-confidence, curiosity, and reflective practice.

**Keywords**: *critical thinking*; *nursing*; *students*; *open-mindedness*; *reflective practice* 

### Action Research-Based Practice as a Basis for Developing Critical Thinking in Primary School Pupils

#### Daiva Jakavonytė-Staškuvienė, Jolita Kudinovienė

Academy of Education, Vytautas Magnus University, Lithuania daiva.jakavonyte-staskuviene@vdu.lt jovita.kudinoviene@vdu.lt

Action research in educational practice is defined as a systematic exploration of how to change the *status quo* in educational practice, and how to find new ways of doing things in order to bring about positive change for all those involved in the educational process, i.e. to improve student learning and achievement (Anderson, Herr, & Nihlen, 2007; Menter, Eliot, Hulme, & Lewin, 2011; Efron & Ravid, 2013). It is an activity that enables the planning of a strategy for action, which is implemented, systematically monitored, reflexively reflected upon and modified (Dolbec & Clément, 2000; Mertler, 2009; Lafontaine, 2006, 2016; Clark, 2012; Carignan, Beaudry, & Larose, 2016; Eden & Ackermann, 2018). In action research, the teacher as researcher takes on the responsibility of solving a particular learning problem (Macaire, 2007), and this cannot be done without deep critical thinking skills, which is why it is important to have deep, reflective educators in schools. Action research enhances teachers' capacity for professional development, autonomy, and the ability to evaluate and take responsibility for educational practice and its improvement (Efron & Ravid, 2013).

**Research question:** How does action research help develop students' critical thinking capacities?

**Conclusions:** It is important to note that most of the focus group participants in our study demonstrated their deep understanding of action research through examples of their work and their reasons for using certain aspects in their educational process. In addition, some aspects were transferred by the teachers to other activities, and some action research projects were so relevant to the children that they carry the experience even when they are in a different classroom and in a different context.

**Keywords:** Action research, critical thinking, primary school pupils

### Expressing Critical Thinking Among Primary School Teachers When Creating an Educational Environment That Provides Opportunities for Students to Set Short-term Goals and Reflect on Them

#### Daiva Jakavonytė-Staškuvienė

Academy of Education, Vytautas Magnus University, Lithuania daiva.jakavonyte-staskuviene@vdu.lt

#### Jovita Ponomariovienė

Academy of Education, Vytautas Magnus University, Lithuania jovita.ponomarioviene@vdu.lt

Reflection is widely recognised as one of the essential lifelong learning skills that greatly influences continuous personal and professional development. It is one of the key competencies in primary, secondary, and higher education systems as it enables students to analyse, evaluate, and actively learn (Colomer et al., 2020). Reflection connects past and new experiences with existing knowledge and skills; it allows critical evaluation of new experiences and their connections with previous skills in various contexts, focusing attention on future transformations (Bassachs et al., 2020; Cañabate et al., 2020). Reflection can also help identify the unique learning style(s) of each student in terms of systemic thinking, general and specific abilities, attitudes, and emotions (Bubnys, 2019).

The aim of the research is to investigate, during activity research, what short-term, one-week personal goals primary school students can independently set and how they are able to reflect on the methods of reaching goals and the results achieved while fostering reflection and self-assessment skills in appropriate conditions.

#### Research objectives:

- Discuss how to create a reflective learning environment conducive to fostering critical thinking skills for both teachers and students.
- Conduct a qualitative content analysis of students' personal journals discussing students' self-set learning goals and their implementation decisions in the development of reflection skills.

**Conclusions.** Systematic application of learning reflection can help change formal learning habits and improve students' learning outcomes as metacognitive skills developed during reflection serve as one of the most important factors influencing conscious learning (Kulgemeyer et al., 2021). Reflection can facilitate the definition of individualised learning paths for acquiring knowledge, developing specific competencies, and applying acquired experience in the relevant context (Sachs et al., 2019).

Learning journals are understood as ongoing reflective writing related to learning content or the learning process. The method of learning journals is most commonly used in universities or school lessons but it should not be used in a content-free space; instead, it should be linked to specific learning and action situations.

**Keywords:** Short-term learning goal setting and implementation, reflection, experiences, primary school students, school case

# Critical Thinking in Informatics Education: Developing Computational Thinking

#### Tatjana Jevsikova

Institute of Data Science and Digital Technologies, Faculty of Mathematics and Informatics, Vilnius University, Lithuania tatjana.jevsikova@mif.vu.lt

Critical thinking is considered one of the core components of 21st-century skills, encompassing a broad range of abilities and competencies essential for success in the modern world. Even in its early stages, informatics (or computer science) education has naturally contributed to developing students' critical thinking through the subject's primary goals of information processing with information technologies and developing complex information systems (Fagin et al., 2006). Students' development of multiple skills, including critical thinking, creativity, communication, collaboration, problem-solving and decision-making, learning to learn, ICT literacy, and personal and social responsibility, can be facilitated by implementing programming instruction as part of informatics education (Hu et al., 2024).

In recent years, students' computational thinking (CT) in education has been stressed as "thought processes involved in formulating problems and their solutions so that the solutions are represented in a form that an information-processing agent can effectively carry out" (Cuny et al., 2010). CT has expanded beyond informatics as it allows us to solve problems using computers and understand social and natural phenomena (Denning & Tedre, 2022).

In this presentation, we look at the development of critical thinking through the lens of informatics education and computational thinking at different levels of education. Recent national Lithuanian initiatives and historical perspectives are presented. Various ways of thinking developed within informatics education (critical thinking, computational thinking, design thinking) and their relationships are discussed.

**Keywords:** informatics education, computational thinking, digital literacy, critical thinking, design thinking

#### **REFERENCES**

- Cuny, J., Snyder, L., & Wing, J.M. (2010). Demystifying computational thinking for non-computer scientists. Unpublished manuscript in progress, referenced in http://www.cs.cmu.edu/~Comp-Think/resources/TheLinkWing.pdf
- Denning, P. J., & Tedre, M. (2022). Computational Thinking: A Disciplinary Perspective. *Informatics in Education*, 20(3), 361–390. https://doi.org/10.15388/infedu.2021.21
- Hu, L. (2024). Programming and 21st century skill development in K-12 schools: A multidimensional meta-analysis. *Journal of Computer Assisted Learning*, 40(2), 610–636. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcal.12904
- Fagin, B., Harper, J., Baird, L., Hadfield, S., & Sward, R. (2006). Critical thinking and computer science: implicit and explicit connections. *Journal of Computing Sciences in Colleges*, 21(4), 171–177.

# Developing Critical Thinking Skills in Writing Summaries in English

#### Vilma Kardauskė

Vilniaus kolegija v.kardauske@viko.lt

#### Danutė Belazarienė

Vilniaus kolegija d.belazariene@viko.lt

Critical thinking is essential for contemporary societies in the context of the enormous amount of information and evolving technologies. Students' critical thinking is influenced by numerous factors including digitalization, generation peculiarities, and usage of AI. All this encourages educators to look for new ways and solutions in the development of students' critical thinking skills. Summary writing relates very closely to the ability of the students to use critical thinking. It is necessary that students deeply engage with the text to comprehend, analyze, select and take reasoned judgement to identify the main idea and then support it with relevant arguments. Critical thinking skills will help the students to prioritize correctly discarding irrelevant details while conveying the gist of the article. This study attempts to explore the strategies that would be effective in enhancing students' critical thinking skills to develop recommendations for teaching summary writing in English. The answers to a questionnaire on critical thinking in summary writing might lead to an instruction scheme that would make summary writing easier with critical thinking on the mind. This research could be a meaningful insight for further exploration of effective methods when learning to write summaries in English.

**Keywords:** *summary writing, critical thinking* 

# The Ethical Economist: Integrating Justice and Equity into Economic Decisions

#### Tomas Karpavičius

Junior assistant at Faculty of Economics and Business Administration, Vilnius University, Lithuania tomas.karpavicius@evaf.vu.lt

This study explores the critical intersection between economics and ethics, focusing on the necessary role of ethical considerations in economic decision-making. It examines how principles such as fairness, equity and resource allocation affect the macroeconomic and microeconomic environment. By integrating ethical dilemmas into the economics curriculum, educators can significantly improve students' critical thinking and ethical thinking skills.

The research contends that understanding and resolving such dilemmas is essential for preparing students to face real-world challenges, where economic decisions often have significant ethical implications. By examining current educational practices and theoretical frameworks, this discussion highlights effective strategies for integrating ethical issues into economic studies, thereby developing a generation of economists equipped to make decisions that are not only economically sound but also ethically responsible. This approach not only enriches academic discourse, but also prepares students to make positive contributions in a variety of professional contexts, promoting a more just and equitable society.

**Keywords:** Ethical Economics, Economic Decision-Making, Justice and Equity, Ethical Thinking

# Development of Critical Thinking, Creativity and L2 Reading through Online Group Problem-Solving Tasks for Undergraduates of Finance

#### Tahmineh Khalili

Hakim Sabzevari University, Sabzevar, Razavi Khorasan province, Iran tahmineh.khalili@yahoo.com

#### Saeed Ketabi

University of Isfahan, Iran

#### **Dimitris Pnevmatikos**

University of Western Macedonia, Greece

#### Dariush Nejad Ansari Mahabadi

University of Isfahan, Isfahan, Iran

This study aims to investigate the possible effects of online group problem-solving tasks on undergraduates' Critical Thinking (CT), creativity, and reading comprehension. To this end, a convenient sampling of Persian first-year students of non-English majors (finance) in Iran was selected as the participants. A homogeneous group of 60 Persian first-year students was randomly assigned into two groups: experimental (N=30) and control (N=30) (N Total=60) based on the OPT test results. The data collection and the treatment were accomplished on the platforms of LMS, Google Docs, email, and WhatsApp. The experimental group was instructed with online group problem-solving tasks for 12 sessions during the second semester of the academic year 2020-2021. The results revealed that the experimental group outperformed the control group in CT, creativity, and L2 reading comprehension. Further, the experimental group reported a positive attitude toward online group problem-solving tasks. One of the major contributions of this research is addressing the paucity of CT and creativity studies for non-English majors in L2 academic courses in Iran. This may also help signify the crucial role of 21st-century skills (i.e., CT and creativity) for a successful life in educational aspects.

**Keywords**: critical thinking; creativity; L2 reading; online group problem-solving

### The Interplay Between Critical Thinking, Emotional Touchpoints and Personalised Learning: Experiences from Two Erasmus+ Projects

#### Simona Kontrimienė

Institute of Foreign Languages, Faculty of Philology, Vilnius University, Lithuania simona.kontrimiene@flf.vu.lt

Critical thinking (CT) is, among other things, a rational, sceptical and unbiased analysis or evaluation of factual evidence. Yet given the cognitive, emotional and behavioural levels of integration of information, cognitive performance must be married to emotional responses as well as behavioural expressions. The present paper explores our experiences from two Erasmus+ projects, *KA220-SCH Women's Legacy: Our Cultural Heritage to Equity* and *KA203 Innovative Teacher Education Through Personalised Learning (INTERPEARL)*. In the first project, critical thinking was combined with the method of emotional touchpoints in literature analysis, and in the second project, CT was applied in the personalisation of two teacher training programmes at Vilnius University.

Our findings suggest that the interplay between critical thinking and emotional touchpoints in literature analysis promotes higher order thinking via emotionally charged reasoning and organisation. Such an interplay develops one's ability to reflect over texts and see a broader picture vis-à-vis the ultimate meaning and alternative directions in life. In regard to personalisation as a novel approach to teacher education, which the INTERPEARL project aimed to develop, CT as the ability to identify central issues, interpret facts, apply generalisations, etc. aligns with the frameworks of social constructivism, reflective practice and mediated learning, the pillars personalised learning rests upon.

**Keywords:** Critical thinking, ERASMUS+, cognitive performance, emotional touchpoints, personalised learning

# The Role of Logic in Reasoning: An Argumentative Theory

#### Mykolas Lekevičius

The Faculty of Philosophy,
Vilnius University, Lithuania
mykolas.lekevicius@fsf.stud.vu.lt

Reasoning and human reason is often held in high regard, although findings in cognitive psychology tend to contradict such an intuition. The famous Wason selection task depicting a practical use for Modus tollens and Modus ponens, where only 10% of subjects managed to find a correct solution is a perfect example. This raises questions: is reasoning really meant to improve our knowledge and decision-making? Is reasoning a superpower? H. Mercier and D. Sperber would answer both questions negatively and for that purpose they seek to reformulate the function of reasoning. Following the aforementioned authors, an evolutionary account of reasoning is given which is not at odds with the influence of the socio-cultural domain. They subscribe to a position stating that the function of reasoning is argumentative i.e. the role of reasoning is to persuade others. Reasoning is aligned more closely with intuitive inferences about reasons, where humans are very good at forming conclusions and coming up with reasons to support them (not the other way around) and are very good at evaluating if the conclusions others make follow from their premises. What is of note here is that the standard logical view of reasoning applies only when evaluating the reasoning of others. The upshot of my work is that I introduce the Adoption Problem which is an argument that some basic inferences must be logical in a certain sense (which is not in conflict with a position that reasoning is not logical). The argumentative theory of reasoning raises questions as "how do we teach critical thinking to subjects that don't reason logically?" for it is clear that changes need to be made. The conclusion points to a common ground between reasoning and inference where logic still has an important role, yet the way reasoning must be understood is radically different.

**Keywords**: reasoning, inference, rule-following, argumentation, adoption problem

#### **REFERENCES**

Allen, D., Bailin, S., Battersby, M., & Freeman, J. B. (2020) Critical Thinking. In G. Noblit (ed.), the Oxford Research Encyclopedia of Education (Fall 2020). Oxford University. http://doi.org/10.1093/acrefore/9780190264093.013.1179

Birman, R. (2024) The Adoption Problem and the Epistemology of Logic. *Mind*, 133(529), 37-60. doi:10.1093/mind/fzad009

Dutilh Novaes, C. (2018) The enduring enigma of reason. *Mind & Language*, 33(5), 513-524. doi:10.1111/mila.12174

Hitchcock D., (2022) Critical Thinking. In E. N. Zalta & U. Nodelman (eds.), *The Stanford Encyclopedia of Philosophy* (Winter 2022 ed.). Stanford University. http://plato.stanford.edu/archives/win2022/entries/critical-thinking

Koralus, P. (2023) Reason and Inquiry: The Erotetic Theory. Oxford: Oxford University Press

- Kripke, S. (2024) The Question of Logic. Mind, 133(529), 1-36. doi:10.1090/mind/fzad008
  Mercier, H., & Sperber, D. (2017) The Enigma of Reason. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press
  Osta-Vélez, M (2020) Inference and the structure of concepts. [Doctoral dissertation, Ludwig-Maximilians Universität München] http://edoc.ub.uni-muenchen.de/27633/7/Osta\_Velez\_Matias.pdf
- Padro, R. (2015) What the Tortoise Said to Kripke: the Adoption Problem and the Epistemology of Logic. [Doctoral dissertation, CUNY Academic Works] http://academicworks.cuny.edu/gc\_etds/603
- Pronin, E., Gilovich, T.,& Ross, L. (2004) Objectivity in the Eye of the Beholder: Divergent Perceptions of Bias in Self Versus Others. *Psychological Review*, 111(3), 781-799. doi:10.1037/0033-295X.111.3.781
- Sperber, D. (2017, August 5). *Cecilia Heyes on the social tuning of reason*. Retrieved from http://cognitionandculture.net/blogs/dan-sperber/cecilia-heyes-on-the-social-tuning-of-reason/
- Willingham, D. T. (2008) Critical Thinking: Why Is It So Hard to Teach? *Arts Education Policy Review*, 109(4), 21-32. doi:10.3200/AEPR.109.4.21-32

### **Critical Thinking in Statistics and Statistical Literacy**

#### Jurgita Markevičiūtė

Vilnius University, Lithuania jurgita.markeviciute@mif.vu.lt strategijos.prodekanas@mif.vu.lt

Critical thinking is a vital skill essential for both students and employees. According to Ennis (2010), critical thinking is "reasonable reflective thinking focused on deciding what to believe or do," while Dyer (2011) describes it as a proactive approach to engaging with information, ideas, and arguments. It involves actively questioning, scrutinizing underlying assumptions, and evaluating the soundness and validity of reasoning.

Critical thinking and statistical literacy are prerequisites for responsible citizenship in democratic societies (Ben-Zvi & Makar 2016). Teaching statistics with a focus on critical thinking empowers students to move beyond mere memorization of formulas and procedures. Instead, it cultivates their ability to analyse data, interpret results, and draw meaningful conclusions. Being critical in statistical contexts involves employing specific abilities to evaluate statistical data critically. Statistical thinking provides a structured framework of analytical principles to guide and support reasoning, whereas the components of critical thinking are not necessarily structured in such a fashion.

Instructors can promote critical thinking in statistics courses by presenting real-world scenarios or case studies. This approach prompts students to critically examine underlying assumptions, identify potential biases, and evaluate the validity of the statistical methods employed. Emphasizing data visualization and interpretation can enhance critical thinking skills. Students should scrutinize graphical representations, identify patterns or anomalies, and critically assess the implications of the data. This process reinforces their understanding of statistical concepts and develops their ability to communicate findings effectively.

Incorporating group discussions and collaborative problem-solving activities can further promote critical thinking. Through peer-to-peer interactions, students can challenge each other's perspectives, debate alternative approaches, and collectively arrive at well-reasoned solutions. Additionally, exposing students to the limitations and potential misuse of statistical methods can cultivate a critical mindset. Discussing ethical considerations, such as data privacy and responsible data handling, helps students develop a nuanced understanding of the broader implications of statistical analysis.

**Keywords**: statistical literacy, critical thinking, statistical thinking, data visualization and interpretation

#### **REFERENCES**

Ben-Zvi, D., & Makar, K. (Eds.). (2016). The teaching and learning of statistics: International perspectives. Springer.

Dyer, L. (2011). *Critical thinking for business students*. West Concord, Ontario: Captus Press. Ennis, R. H. (2010). *CriticalThinking.Net* [website]. Retrieved April 26, 2024, from https://criticalthinking.net/what-is-critical-thinking/

# CognitiveSTATS: an E-Platform for Advancing Statistical Literacy and Critical Thinking Skills

Gerda Ana Melnik-Leroy<sup>1\*</sup>, Giedrė Dzemydaitė<sup>1,2</sup>, Linas Aidokas<sup>1</sup>, Gintautas Dzemyda<sup>1</sup>, Virginijus Marcinkevičius<sup>1</sup>, Danguolė Melnikienė<sup>1,3</sup>, Ana Usovaitė<sup>1,4</sup>

- <sup>1</sup> Institute of Data Science and Digital Technologies, Vilnius University
- <sup>2</sup> Faculty of Economics and Business Administration, Vilnius University
- <sup>3</sup> Faculty of Philology, Vilnius University
- <sup>4</sup> Department of Graphical Systems, Vilnius Gediminas technical university
- \* gerda.melnik@mif.vu.lt

The abundance of statistical data and visualizations in contemporary society poses a significant challenge, as their misinterpretation directly impacts people's beliefs and decisions. The global pandemic underscored the widespread deficiencies in the public's ability to interpret statistical information critically. Crucially, these challenges persist across different domains and are expected to intensify as the reliance on data continues to grow.

In this talk, we will present the results of the interdisciplinary research project CognitiveSTATS, funded by the European Social Fund (SMART Covid call). The project aimed at developing a prototype for an innovative educational platform fostering statistical literacy. Given that most people do not have the opportunity to pursue formal education in statistics, the research-based platform created during the project aims to help the general public to develop essential statistical intuitions, crucial for comprehending and critically evaluating the most relevant data and phenomena. In order to ensure the effectiveness and attractiveness of the platform, an innovative technological solution was proposed, based on: 1. experimental research and the application of its results, 2. an innovative system architecture that considers cognitive mechanisms, 3. the development of statistical intuitions through familiar data and their visualizations.

The research conducted during the project has pinpointed significant shortcomings in statistical literacy and prevalent numerical cognitive biases within society, such as the exponential growth bias. Furthermore, the project has successfully identified common instances of graph and data manipulation in the public domain. Additionally, the research has shed light on the considerable impact of math anxiety on individuals' engagement with mathematics and statistics.

The practical and theoretical implications of these results will be discussed, emphasizing the importance of multidisciplinary education for adults beyond formal schooling.

**Keywords**: statistical literacy; educational platform; cognitive mechanisms of learning; visualizations; math anxiety

### Is My Visualization Better Than Yours? Analyzing Factors Modulating Exponential Growth Bias in Graphs

Gerda Ana Melnik-Leroy<sup>1</sup>, Giedrė Dzemydaitė<sup>2\*</sup>, Linas Aidokas<sup>1</sup>, Gintautas Dzemyda<sup>1</sup>, Virginijus Marcinkevičius<sup>1</sup>, Danguolė Melnikienė<sup>1,3</sup>, Ana Usovaitė<sup>1,4</sup>

- <sup>1</sup> Institute of Data Science and Digital Technologies, Vilnius University, Lithuania
- <sup>2</sup> Faculty of Economics and Business Administration, Vilnius University, Lithuania
- <sup>3</sup> Faculty of Philology, Vilnius University, Lithuania
- <sup>4</sup> Department of Graphical Systems, Vilnius Gediminas Technical University, Lithuania
- \* giedre.dzemydaite@evaf.vu.lt

Humans tend to systematically underestimate exponential growth and perceive it in linear terms, which can have severe consequences in a variety of fields. Recent studies have attempted to examine the origins of this bias and to mitigate it by comparing the use of the logarithmic vs. linear scales in graphical representations. However, these studies have yielded conflicting results regarding which scale induces more perceptual errors.

In the current study, through an experiment with a short educational intervention, we further examined the factors modulating the exponential bias in graphs and suggested a theoretical explanation for our findings. Specifically, we tested the hypothesis that each scale can induce misperceptions in a particular context. In addition, we explored the effect of mathematical education by testing two groups of participants: those with a background in humanities versus in formal sciences.

The results of this study confirm that, when used in an inadequate context, both logarithmic and linear scales can dramatically affect the interpretation of visualizations representing exponential growth. In particular, while the log scale leads to more errors in graph description tasks, the linear scale misleads individuals when predicting the future trajectory of exponential growth. The second part of the study revealed that the difficulties with both scales can be reduced through a short educational intervention. Importantly, while no difference between participant groups was observed before the intervention, participants with a better mathematical education showed a stronger learning effect in the posttest. The findings of this study are discussed in light of a dual-process model.

**Keywords**: cognitive bias; exponential growth; graph perception; logarithmic scaling; mathematical liter-acy

# Transformative Pedagogy in Liberal Arts: Developing Metacognitive Competences via Translation

#### Natalya Mikhailova

European Humanities University, Lithuania natalya.mikhailova@ehu.lt

In this paper, Jack Mezirow's cognitive-analytic approach to transformative learning is used as a point of departure to approach teaching literary texts in a foreign language. First, this paper will explore how difference and failure in translation are employed in the classroom as valuable aspects of foreignness and multiplicity. Bilingual teaching of literary works fosters critical thinking, predisposing students to experience disorientation, examine their assumptions, recognize the dissatisfaction with only one language at hand, explore alternatives of experiencing the world, try out new cultural and linguistic roles. These metacognitive competences are promoted by the productive tension of failure experienced in translation and placing students in a multilingual learning environment.

Second, this paper will explore how the lacunae of Mezirow's cognitive-analytic approach are complemented by embracing pedagogy of failure which highlights the difficulty, thus putting to work the oscillation between languages as a crucial feature of interpretive methodology itself. Oscillating between languages in the perpetually shifting quicksand of translation, students find themselves negotiating the impossibility of exact transfer, experiencing play of differences caused by the disorienting encounter with the literary work. These hermeneutic oscillations, swaying between disorientation and belonging, subvert the logic of consuming and subsuming, propel students into a liminal experience where singularity of what each language aims to express is palpable, thus exposing students to absence of a fixed identity.

I suggest that such intrinsic elements of critical thinking lead to formation of metacognitive competences helping students to transcend habitual dualistic model of thinking outside of classroom as well, contributing to the development of learners' autonomy required for resolving dilemmas, developing self-awareness and ability to make reasonable choices as autonomous learners, moving them into a third space of critical thinking (Bhaba, 1994).

**Keywords:** transformative pedagogy, translation, metacognitive competences, liberal arts

#### REFERENCES (main ones only):

Bhabha, H. K. (1994). The location of culture. Routledge.

Eckstein, L. E., Finaret, A. B., & Whitenack, L. B. (2023). Teaching the inevitable: Embracing a pedagogy of failure. Teaching and Learning Inquiry, 11.

Mezirow, J. (1990b). How critical reflection triggers transformative learning. In J. Mezirow (ed.) Fostering critical reflection in adulthood: A guide to transformative and emancipatory learning. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.

### Eyes Without a Face and Bodies Without Limit. The Actuation of the Mad Scientist

#### Paul Nanu

University of Alba Iulia, Romania paul.nanu@utu.fi

This article aims to analyze literary and visual resorts of the body as an object of pathology, of obsession and revenge as shown in the novels of Jean Redon and Thierry Jonquet and their counterpart in film, represented by Georges Franju and Pedro Almodóvar's creations. Their origins stem from the French *noir* novel, and as the films mentioned are rather scarcely received, this approach to contextualise the four creations is not necessarily an easy task. Moreover, as critics note, both novels and films have significant bizarre and shocking characters and are not to the liking of all mainstream cinema or literature lovers. We are envisaging a period of half a century, the last half, where the objectification of the body is no longer a novelty; however, the idea of using the (living) body as a source of spare parts or that of arbitrary forced sex change still raise eyebrows, if not even induces distress. The male and female bodies are delimited by an increasingly blurred line, be it cultivation and skin graft or transgender experiment. The selected corpus undoubtedly elicits critical thinking on recent major societal topics. We argue this to be not only an *exercise de style* but also a rather in depth and symptomatic approach to nowadays uncomfortable new aesthetics.

**Keywords**: horror, literature, French noir, plastic surgery, Franju

#### **REFERENCES**

BURDEAU, E. (2000) Les yeux sans visage. Dossier, BIFI (Bibliothèque du fim).

French, P. (2011) *The Skin I live In – Review*, in The Guardian, August 28<sup>th</sup> 2011, www.theguardian. com/film/2011/aug/28/skin-live-in-almodovar-review [May 14th 2024]

Jonquet, Т. (2011) Mygale, Editions Gallimard, Folio Policier, Paris.

Pouy, J.-B. (2016) Une brève histoire du roman noir, Points Policier.

REDON, J. (1959) Les yeux sans visage, Editions du Fleuve noir, Collection "Angoisse", Paris.

Schweighaeuser, J.-P. (1984) Le roman noir français, Presses Universitaires de France.

<sup>\*\*\*</sup> Les yeux sans visage (1960). Director: Georges Franju.

<sup>\*\*\*</sup> La piel que habito (2011). Director: Pedro Almodóvar.

### **Critical Thinking in School Mathematics**

#### Rimas Norvaiša

The Center for Mathematics Education, Vilnius University, Lithuania rimas.norvaisa@mif.vu.lt

Critical thinking is a part of the cognitive competence included in the latest version of the Lithuanian curriculum framework. According to D.T. Willingham, thinking is defined as critical if it is novel, self-directed, and effective. In any school subject matter, the person's thinking is self-directed if they are not merely executing instructions given by someone else. Additionally, their thinking is effective if they respect certain conventions that make thinking more likely to yield useful conclusions. The meaning of effective thinking depends on the subject matter of study. We discuss critical thinking in the context of school mathematics.

Thinking in school mathematics is effective if it follows habits of mathematical reasoning similar to those used in academic mathematics. Specifically, mathematical reasoning in a school context involves looking for patterns among mathematical objects, making, testing, proving or disproving conjectures, refining them, and, finally, communicating the results. The implementation of mathematical reasoning and critical thinking in schools depends on the alignment of the three dimensions of the curriculum. Aligning with these dimensions ensures that the educational goals set forth in the intended curriculum are what gets taught in the enacted curriculum and ultimately what students actually learn. Finally, all this depends on teacher preparedness to teach mathematical reasoning effectively.

## Advancing Clinical Excellence: Nurturing Critical Thinking Skills in Medical Education

#### Rita Payan Carreira

University of Évora / CIEP-UE, Évora, Portugal rtpayan@uevora.pt

Critical thinking skills (CrT) are crucial for effective clinical decision-making, problem-solving, and patient care in all healthcare professions. Medical schools are increasingly emphasizing the development of critical thinking skills alongside medical knowledge. Many schools have integrated critical thinking training into their medical curricula across various stages of medical education. The strategies used may present different pedagogy types, whether they are intended to be used within a course (e.g., problem-or case-based learning, simulation-based learning, interprofessional education, and other active learning strategies) or they represent mandatory training in clinical settings (e.g., pre-clinical coursework, clinical rotations).

However, integrating critical thinking and clinical reasoning development in medical education presents several challenges. Some are related to the implementation of CrT nurturing activities (time constraints, assessment methods, faculty training, interdisciplinary collaboration), and others are related to the institutional culture, priorities, and resource constraints. Besides, to ensure the efficacy of the implemented strategies, student's prior knowledge must be guaranteed, and the evaluation of the activities' outcomes must prove its effectiveness.

This presentation explores learning strategies to enhance critical thinking in medical education, assessing their effectiveness and potential long-term impact on students' CrT development.

**Keywords:** critical thinking; clinical reasoning; medical education; curriculum development; teaching strategies; educational innovation

### Participatory Co-design of Critical Thinking Blended interventions: Bringing the Workplace into the Classroom

### Rita Payan-Carreira<sup>1\*</sup>, Ruben Silva<sup>2</sup>, Hugo Rebelo<sup>1</sup>, Luis Sebastião<sup>1</sup>

- 1 University of Évora / CIEP-UE, Évora, Portugal
- <sup>2</sup> Anicura Atlântico Hospital Veterinário, Mafra, Portugal rtpayan@uevora.pt;

Under the Think4Jobs project, collaborative partnerships were established between Higher Education Institutions and Labor Market organizations to develop real-world scenarios to be integrated into Critical thinking (CrT) blended curricula. These aim to stimulate students' critical thinking (both skills and dispositions), addressing profession-specific real-life challenges by seeking solutions. The participatory co-design of the interventions was rooted in the previous identification of the CrT skills and dispositions deem necessary for day-one graduates by labor market representatives, gathered from focus groups interviews. The identified needs concerned making well-informed decisions, whether within clinical or non-clinical settings, critically analysing ambiguous or poorly defined problems, offering corrective solutions, and anticipating potential challenges.

In Portugal, the partnership was established with a large Veterinary Hospital. Together, two labour market representatives and educators structured three sequential interventions, covering the course contents in Andrology, Gynecology, and Obstetrics. The design of the activities followed an adapted "think aloud" approach to deconstruct clinical reasoning into multiple interwoven small steps starting with the initial evaluation of a clinical case and aiming at deciding on the most adequate solution for the proposed problem. For each activity, a document should be produced, conveying the rationale behind the clinical analysis and proposed solutions. The documents were assessed for the factual and conceptual understanding related to the course, and the strength of students' reasoning, including the ability to substantiate procedural and metacognitive dimensions of knowledge with evidence. CrT skills and dispositions were assessed by a questionnaire at the beginning and end of the term.

In this presentation, we will discuss the operationalization of the University-Business collaboration, and the students' CrT gains associated to the interventions piloted in the second term of the 2022/23 academic year.

**Keywords:** critical thinking; curriculum development; learning strategies; educational innovation; university-business collaboration

# Are Contemporary Universities Venues for Critical Thought? Conceptual and Empirical Insights

#### Rūta Petkutė

Faculty of Social Sciences, Arts and Humanities, Kaunas University of Technology, Lithuania ruta.petkute-budre@ktu.lt

Critical thinking historically has been recognised as a foundation of intellectual inquiry in the European continental academic tradition since Kant. Underpinned by the principle of academic freedom, the pursuit of critical thinking has accompanied the quest for truth and has been inseparable from the broader democratic project. In contemporary European higher education, critical thinking re-emerges as a generic competence, reflecting a 'know-how' approach that highlights the practical use of knowledge and skills in real-world and work contexts. The presentation focuses on exploring the historical and contemporary European approaches to critical thinking in the context of university education and discerning their similarities and differences. Furthermore, it examines the challenges of fostering critical thinking within contemporary Lithuanian universities. The presentation offers a conceptual analysis of universities' historical role in nurturing critical thought and an overview of contemporary European higher education policy documents. Moreover, it draws on the findings of the broader research project, which explored Lithuanian academics' responses to European higher education reforms, to draw valuable insights into the current state of critical thinking in Lithuanian universities.

**Keywords:** Critical thought, universities, European continental academic tradition, European higher education policy, generic competences, Lithuanian academics' perspectives

### Development of Critical Thinking Skills in Literature Classes

#### **Svetozar Postic**

Institute of Foreign Languages, Faculty of Philology, Vilnius University, Lithuania svetozar.postic@flf.vu.lt

This paper analyses the use of techniques through which critical thinking skills can be developed, honed, and nurtured during university literature classes. First, it reviews all the definitions of critical thinking, paying special attention to how they have evolved during the last one hundred years, and selecting those that are useful for literature teaching. Further, it uses the critical thinking skills, listed by an international expert group and described by Peter Facione in his 2011 article entitled "Critical Thinking: What It Is and Why It Counts," and recommends ways in which they can be developed in a literature classroom. The six consensual skills listed by the group are interpretation, analysis, inference, evaluation, explanation, and self-regulation.

The recommended techniques in the following section heavily rely on the Dialogue Teaching Model, described in a 1990 work by William Hayes entitled "Critical Thinking through Literature: A Dialogue Teaching Model." The model this author uses involves five basic steps: getting students to respond to their reading in some significant open-ended way, comparing their reasoning to that of others, reflecting on their own reasoning after considering what others have said, revising or maintaining their responses in the light of other viewpoints, and demonstrating their understanding of a literary piece through a written or oral assignment. This procedure cultivates the expression of one's own opinion, the ability to listen and comprehend other people's views and opinions, the encouragement of open-mindedness to different opinions, and the willingness to adapt your own stance according to the information and arguments collected from others. The principle aim of the work is to demonstrate how discussions about literature are one of the most effective ways to develop critical thinking skills.

**Keywords:** Critical Thinking, Literature, Dialogue Teaching Model, University Classroom

#### **REFERENCES**

Facione, P.A. (2011). Critical thinking: What it is and why it counts. *Insight assessment*.

Hayes, W. H. (1990) Critical Thinking through Literature: A Dialogue Teaching Model. *Critical and Creative Thinking Capstones Collection*. 140. https://scholarworks.umb.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1139&context=cct\_capstone

Shukri, N. A. and Makundan J. (2015). A Review on Developing Critical Thinking Skills through Literature Texts. *Advances in Language and Literary Studies* 6(2): 4–9.

Tung, C. and Chang, S. (2009). Developing Critical Thinking through Literature Reading. *Journal of Humanities and Social Sciences* 19: 287–317.

### Teaching Self-Assessment in Business English Classes

#### Iuliu Rațiu

Babeş-Bolyai University Cluj-Napoca, Romania iuliu.ratiu@econ.ubbcluj.ro

The purpose of the presentation is to analyze the role of student self-assessment in group projects. The author intends to emphasize the importance of peer learning and self-assessment of individual and group work and to offer recommendations to instructors willing to improve their students' self-evaluation skills. For students themselves, self-assessment is a much-needed skill they could later use in the workforce when they could negotiate a wage raise, an end-of-the-year bonus, or ask for a promotion. As a tool for critical thinkers, self-assessment allows for contextualizing one's strengths and weaknesses within a group, improving communication among group members, and building trust. The presentation is informed by Business and Economics students' work on three group projects over three semesters in the courses of Business English the author teaches at Babeş-Bolyai University in Cluj-Napoca, Romania.

**Keywords**: group work, peer learning, self-assessment, student reflections

### Can Critical Thinking Reduce the Gap Between Universities and Labour Market? A Study with Focus Groups and One in-depth Interview with Veterinarians

#### **Hugo Rebelo**

Research Centre in Education and Psychology, University of Évora, Portugal hrfr@uevora.pt

#### Luís Sebastião

Research Centre in Education and Psychology, University of Évora, Portugal Imss@uevora.pt

#### Rita Payan-Carreira

Research Centre in Education and Psychology, Comprehensive Health Research Centre University of Évora, Portugal rtpayan@uevora.pt

#### Filipa Tirapicos

Research Centre in Education and Psychology, University of Évora, Portugal filipa.tirapicos@uevora.pt

#### Ana Cristóvão

Research Centre in Education and Psychology, University of Évora, Portugal alc@uevora.pt

Every year, universities award graduating students with a diploma that enables them to enter the job market. The discussion about whether the profile these students possess is the one desired by employers is recurrent in the literature. Critical Thinking for Successful Jobs (Think4Jobs) was an Erasmus+ project (2020-1-EL01-KA203-078797) that, using a multidisciplinary approach, sought to develop critical thinking among higher education students, so that the incorporation of this skill would be an asset in the transition between academic and professional environments.

The purpose of this presentation is to understand if critical thinking, understood as the ability to analyse, evaluate, and decide objectively and based on evidence, can reduce the gap between universities and the labour market. In the context of veterinary medicine, two

focus group interviews were conducted with 12 veterinarians (six in each group), followed by an in-depth interview to further explore the topics discussed. The interviews were transcribed, and the data were analysed using NVivo software, employing the reflexive thematic analysis technique.

The results highlighted the need to change some pedagogical practices used both in the university and in the professional internships, to enhance self-regulation and autonomy, and to promote skills in decision-making and clinical reasoning. The importance of incorporating industry needs into university course curricula was also emphasized. Veterinarians recognize that initial training and internships provide different opportunities for the development of critical thinking, which complement each other. They also note that newly graduated individuals with higher levels of critical thinking competence align more adequately with the desired profile for entering the profession.

**Keywords**: critical thinking; university-business collaboration; veterinarians; employability profile; soft skills

### "At First I Thought It Would Be Boring". Critical Thinking in Classical Studies Classroom

#### **Tomas Riklius**

Vilnius University, Lithuania tomas.riklius@flf.vu.lt

This paper presents a classroom experiment that evaluates how students' critical thinking can be promoted in a seminar, as well as a method of teaching critical thinking during the seminars of the "Classical Art and Culture: Rome" course.

The purpose of the classroom experiment was to determine several study objectives of the aforementioned course, which aims to develop critical thinking through reading excerpts from ancient Roman literary sources in Lithuanian translation, dedicated to a specific seminar topic. The premise of the experiment was also based on a remark made by a student in 2023 during a reflection at the end of the course: "At first I thought it would be boring, but then I was hooked".

The experiment was carried out with two target groups using different approaches. One seminar group received three excerpts from ancient Roman literary sources in Lithuanian translation and had 20 minutes to read and write two to three sentences about what they understood. The second group received the same extracts, but had a time limit to read and write their answers. Both groups then had a regular seminar after which they again had a limited time to read the same extracts again and again write two to three sentences about what they understood.

The results of the experiment showed that 80 per cent of the seminar group demonstrated an increased understanding of ancient sources and improved critical thinking skills. Furthermore, at the end of the seminar, at least 35 per cent of the class indicated intermediate or advanced progress in understanding the seminar topic and in critical thinking when reading and interpreting various ancient sources. Therefore, this qualitative experiment illustrates how close reading of such literary sources can be productive in developing the critical thinking skills of university students.

**Keywords**: critical thinking, Classical studies, close reading, ancient sources, teaching approach

#### **REFERENCES**

Bramley, C. & Morrison, K. (2023). Student Engagement, Higher Education, and Social Justice. Beyond Neoliberalism and the Market. Routledge.

Cottrell, S. (2023). Critical Thinking Skills. Bloomsbury.

Jahn, D. & Cursio, M. (2023). Critical Thinking. An Introduction To The Didactics Of Thinking Training. Springer.

Lowe, T. (2023). Advancing Student Engagement in Higher Education. Reflection, Critique and Challenge. Routledge.

Reschly, A. L. & Christenson, S. L. (2022). *Handbook of Research on Student Engagement*. Springer. Rosenqvist, A. & Ekecrantz, S. (2023). *Source Criticism on the Schedule. Teaching Critical Thinking*. Springer.

## Beyond Listening and Speaking: The Role of Writing in Fostering Critical Thought in Literature Students

#### **Grant Matthew Rosson**

Vilnius University, Lithuania grant.rosson@flf.vu.lt

In the realm of literature education, lectures and seminars traditionally emphasize aural comprehension and oral expression. However, the silent work of writing and note-taking is where complex layers of meaning can take shape, providing a foundational strategy for fostering critical thought in students. This presentation proposes a shift in focus to these underappreciated practices, exploring how the externalization of ideas through writing is not merely a supplementary activity but a central aspect of developing critical thought and understanding.

Drawing upon both pedagogical theory and media historians such as Siskin and Warner (2010), alongside the insights offered by Ahrens (2017) on smart note-taking, we will consider the rising prominence of the written and printed word as a tool for structuring critical thought during the Enlightenment. This historical perspective illuminates how the act of externalizing thought has always been integral to the emergence and advancement of critical analysis.

Using Zagzebski's (2019) theoretical framework on understanding, this presentation will examine how the material aspects of writing and note-taking can serve as cognitive scaffolds. These tools not only facilitate the absorption and dissection of literary works but also allow students to render tacit knowledge explicit, thereby refining their analytical skills and scholarly insights.

By incorporating examples and exercises from classroom experience, this presentation will propose the efficacy of these strategies in enhancing interpretative skills and fostering active student engagement with literary texts. Participants will gain a richer appreciation for the role of externalization in education and will be equipped with actionable methods to cultivate a robust culture of written reflection, necessary for nurturing enlightened, critical thinkers.

**Keywords:** externalization, pedagogy, Enlightenment, note-taking, understanding

#### **REFERENCES**

Ahrens Sönke. (2017). How to take smart notes: One simple technique to boost writing, learning and thinking. CreateSpace.

Siskin, C., & Warner, W. (2010). This is enlightenment. The University of Chicago Press. Zagzebski, L. (2019). Toward a theory of understanding. In Varieties of understanding (pp. 123–136).

Oxford University Press.

# How Do We Celebrate a National Hero Today? The Transylvanian Avram Iancu and his Bicentennial

#### **Tudor Rosu**

The National Museum of Union Alba Iulia, Romania tudor.rosu2014@gmail.com

Avram Iancu (1824-1872) is perhaps the most representative historical figure among Transylvanian Romanians, with a rich biography highlighted by the Revolution of 1848-1849. Known as the "King of the Mountains" to Transylvanian Romanians, he was immediately embraced as a national hero by Romanians beyond the mountains. However, he was often met with reservation, if not severe criticism or even stigmatization, in the rhetoric of otherness, particularly in the perception of Hungarian historiography. However, the way Avram Iancu's personality and historical role have been approached in Romanian historiography and beyond, in over 150 years of works on this subject, has undergone numerous transformations. Since the presentation of such a personality to the general public is inherently tied to patriotic values, such approaches are often avoided by most contemporary historians. The current presentation aims to analyze, starting with the subject of Avram Iancu, how our relationship to history has changed, how thin the border between patriotism and chauvinism is perceived today, how "we are still allowed" to get excited about historical figures, what is considered disturbing and what is not in the historical information we pass on to new generations, and why, for example, the disturbing "doses" have increased compared to the historical content of 20 or 50 years ago. Alternatively, from another angle, how critical thinking shapes our perception of history.

**Keywords:** *national hero, Transylvania, historical representation, perception, values* 

#### **BIBLIOGRAPHY:**

Gelu Neamțu, *Avram Iancu. Mit, realitate, simbol,* Ed. Argonaut, 2012. Pompiliu Teodor, *Avram Iancu în memorialistică*, Ed. Dacia, 1972. Silviu Dragomir, *Avram Iancu. O viață de erou*, Ed. Școala Ardeleană, 2022.

# Effectiveness of the Course English for Academic Purposes and Research: The Learner Perspective

#### Inga Rozgienė

Vilnius University, Lithuania inga.rozgiene@flf.vu.lt

The aim of this paper is to present the results of a survey undertaken to find out students' perception of the effectiveness of the course English for Academic Purposes and Research (CEFR level C1) introduced into Vilnius University in 2019. The course is constructed using the principles of the action-oriented approach, where students are exposed to typical situations encountered in the academic environment and engaged in appropriate interaction and mediation activities to identify and propose a solution to global and/or subject-related problems through collaborative critical analysis of authentic sources. The course aims to develop a range of capabilities embracing not only communicative language competencies but also transferable, academic, and subject-specific skills, which are assessed through production activities.

The sample of the study consisted of 70 first-year students at the Faculty of Chemistry and Geosciences who were asked to complete a questionnaire immediately after the examination and evaluate the effectiveness of the course from different perspectives. The respondents were asked to assess their own progress in terms of the acquisition of transferable and academic skills, language proficiency, and subject-specific knowledge. They were also asked to evaluate the activities, assignments and tasks regarding their usefulness, rank them by their difficulty and specify the ones that posed the greatest cognitive challenge.

The results indicate that the repertoire and sequence of the tasks create a strong platform for the development of competencies set in the description of the course; however, some adjustments (e.g., giving preference to certain activities, allocation of more time to practice particular tasks, or even raising the visibility of the usefulness of some formats) could be made to increase the efficacy of the course.

**Keywords**: course effectiveness, English for Academic Purposes and Research, action-based approach, learner's competencies, authentic materials

# Culturally Responsive Approaches to Teaching Information Literacy to Secondary and University Students in an Al-Accessible World

#### Katherine Ruprecht

Paul-Valéry Montpellier III University/ LIRDEF, France katherine.ruprecht@etu.univ-montp3.fr

How do educators in different countries teach information literacy to secondary and university students in a world where artificial intelligence is now widely accessible? Information Literacy as defined by the American Library Association is, "a set of abilities requiring individuals to recognize when information is needed and have the ability to locate, evaluate, and use effectively the needed information. Information literacy forms the basis for lifelong learning."

Since 2020, I have been investigating questions of how information literacy is taught across different cultures and school systems. However, since the release of ChatGPT in November 2022, and consequently other similar platforms, educators are at a crossroads of how to continue to teach all aspects of information literacy to students and how to encourage them especially to avoid plagiarism (a cornerstone of information literacy education). This research aims to collect and share ideas and strategies offered by educators in the field to communicate with others as a community of practice. According to the University of Florida's Center Lastinger Center for Learning, "A Community of Practice is a group of individuals who share a common goal and passion or profession striving to improve practices or outcomes."

This research draws upon the surveys of 15 educators across Bulgaria, Romania and the U.S. to identify strategies they use or might use in their schools or universities to teach information literacy in culturally responsive ways in an environment where students now have full access to platforms such as ChatGPT. Montgomery (2001) states that culturally responsive classrooms recognize the existence of culturally diverse students and the need to find relevant connections among themselves and with the subject matter. Survey participants not only agree to complete the survey, but also to share their responses and contact information with other participants in order to form a community of practice.

**Keywords:** Artificial Intelligence, Information Literacy, Secondary Education, Tertiary Education, Culturally Responsive Pedagogy

#### **REFERENCES**

ALA. (2017, February 7). *Information Literacy*. Welcome to ALA's Literacy Clearinghouse. https://literacy.ala.org/information-literacy/

Karadjova-Kozhuharova, K. G. (2021). Culturally Grounded Approaches to Information Literacy Understanding.

Montgomery, W. (2001). Creating Culturally Responsive, Inclusive Classrooms. *TEACHING Exceptional Children*, 33(4), 4–9. https://doi.org/10.1177/004005990103300401

University of Florida. *CoP Beginner's Toolkit* | *Lastinger Center for Learning.* (n.d.). Retrieved April 10, 2024, from https://lastinger.center.ufl.edu/cop-beginners-toolkit/

# Critical Thinking as a Condition Sine Qua Non for University-Level Foreign Language Teachers' Professional Development

#### Inna Samoylyukevych

Institute of Foreign Languages Vilnius University, Lithuania inna.samoylyukevych@flf.vu.lt

The rapid development of the information society causes new challenges to higher education, continuously encouraging faculty development. In this respect, it is crucial to draw attention to cultivating university-level teachers' critical thinking as a necessary condition for enabling them to effectively sift through today's information overload, find new and different ways of solving educational problems, as well as to play an exemplary role in students' use of critical thinking skills [1]. Issues of incorporating critical thinking skills in language education have recently been tackled in the field of research development on teachers' critical thinking [2], foreign language teaching in HEI and the labour market [3], as a component of the CPD framework for teacher educators [4], etc.

The present study reports on the analysis of the role of critical thinking in foreign language teachers' professional development within the project on the implementation of the CEFR Companion Volume [4] into the teaching/learning process at Vilnius University (Lithuania) in 2019-2022 [5]. A qualitative case study research was chosen as the number of participants was limited. Convenience sampling was used, the participants being selected among English language teachers delivering courses at different faculties and study programmes who volunteered to participate in the survey.

The qualitative analysis of anonymous teachers' responses to a questionnaire consisting of open-ended questions resulted in identifying the ways teachers' critical thinking can contribute to professional development concerning the curriculum, teaching and students. The findings showed that critical engagement in received knowledge in the process and as a result of professional development ensures university-level foreign language teachers' active participation in the culture of teaching and learning, reflection on their own proficiency in critical thinking skills as part of their professional competence and ability to foster students' critical thinking.

**Keywords:** critical thinking skills, professional development, foreign language teachers, higher education, curriculum

#### **REFERENCES**

- Borg, S. (Ed.). (2015). Professional development for English language teachers: Perspectives from higher education in Turkey. Ankara: British Council. https://www.teachingenglish.org.uk/sites/teaching/files/pub\_British%20Council%20CPD.PDF
- Wang, D., Jia, Q. (2023). Twenty years of research development on teachers' critical thinking: Current status and future implications – A bibliometric analysis of research articles collected in WOS. Thinking Skills and Creativity. 2023, 48,101252. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tsc.2023.101252

- 3 Postič, S.; Kriaučiūnienė, R.; Ivancu, O. (2023). Viewpoints on the Development of Critica Thinking Skills in the Process of Foreign Language Teaching in Higher Education and the Labor Market. Educ.Sci.2023,13,152. https://doi.org/10.3390/educsci13020152
- 4 British Council (2015). Teaching for success: Continuing Professional Development (CPD) Framework for teacher educators. British Council Publishing, London. https://www.teachingenglish.org.uk/sites/teacheng/files/CPD\_framework\_for\_teachers\_WEB.PDF
- 5 Council of Europe (2020), Common European Framework of Reference for Languages: Learning, teaching, assessment Companion volume, Council of Europe Publishing, Strasbourg, available at www.coe.int/lang-cefr.

### Value-added Experience Through Just a Step Aside

#### Asta Statkevičienė

Institute of Foreign Languages, Faculty of Philology, Vilnius University, Lithuania asta.statkeviciene@flf.vu.lt

The presentation contains the experience of the past eight years teaching English to students at the Faculty of Mathematics and Informatics (MIF). Specifically, it provides an overview of the practical enrichment of the assignments included into the Course Description. This includes the application of three interdisciplinary CLIL modules integrated into the language teaching curriculum during the study years of 2017-2019 and two trans-faculty Student Conferences of 2022 and 2024. Challenges and benefits will be highlighted, focusing on interdisciplinarity and students' empowerment for future work and life. Students' feedback will also be presented and analysed.

Additionally, a future virtual exchange (VE) project will be introduced. The project is planned for the implementation in the autumn semester of 2024. The VE project will be based on a debate assignment conducted between MIF students and Bologna University students from Italy, thus achieving the highly desired international dimension. By participating in the international VE project, students will have a brilliant opportunity to experience technology-based interaction, communicate with another culture, and gain an international perspective on the content discussed. Moreover, students will develop their soft skills. Exposure to different worldviews and attitudes will impact students' motivation to learn, exchange ideas, accept diverse opinions, and build their own arguments, all of which will enhance their critical thinking.

**Keywords**: interdisciplinary, CLIL, virtual exchange project, soft skills, critical thinking

## Hard Skills vs Soft Skills: Cross-Perspectives of Trainers, Employers and Trainees

### Filipa Tirapicos, Hugo Rebelo, Luís Sebastião & Rita Payan-Carreira

Research Centre in Education and Psychology, University of Évora, Portugal rtpayan@uevora.pt

Employers, when aiming to select and recruit new employees, establish a profile consisting of a set of skills that these individuals should have and possess to fulfil their future roles. This profile comprises hard skills as well as soft skills. Soft skills are distinguished from hard skills by being more difficult to identify, develop and assess.

Within the scope of the European Project 'Think4Jobs' (2020-1-EL01-KA203-078797), an exploratory study was conducted to understand whether, according to the perspectives of teachers and students, hard skills and soft skills are being developed during undergraduate studies. The study also aims to ascertain if the skills conveyed to students by teachers are adequate in relation to the profile desired by employers, and whether employers value hard skills or soft skills more.

The study focused on the fields of Educational Sciences, Psychology, Management, and Tourism, and involved both directors of various higher education programmes and employers whose business focus lies in the aforementioned areas. Additionally, third-year students from each higher education programme were interviewed. Four focus groups were conducted, with the participation of approximately five students each. Transcriptions of the interviews were processed and analysed using the content analysis technique, with the support of NVivo data analysis software.

The results revealed that all three interviewed groups assign high importance to soft skills, namely communication, critical thinking and autonomy, and advocate for greater integration between higher education and the business environment. As a result, it can be observed that there is agreement between the skills that employers wish to find in their employees and those that higher education institutions aim to develop.

**Keywords:** Employability, hard skills, soft skills, labour market, university-business collaboration

«This work is financed by national funds from FCT – Foundation for Science and Technology, I.P., within the scope of the project UIDB/04312/2020»

# Critical Thinking of Nursing Students: Developing an Essential Skill

#### Marija Truš

Klaipeda University, Lithuania marija.trus@ku.lt

**Introduction**. Critical thinking is one of the competencies necessary for nurses to effectively manage complex care needs in a rapidly changing environment. The effect of nursing education on the development of students' critical thinking has been studied by many researchers. Critical thinking skills are an expected outcome of nursing education programmes.

The purpose of the present study was to identify the issues related to the development of critical thinking skills in nursing students. The research questions were: 1. How is critical thinking defined from a nursing perspective? 2. Are there specific teaching strategies that can be used to develop critical thinking in nursing students? 3. What factors contribute to the development of critical thinking skills in nursing students?

**Methodology**. A descriptive review was conducted to examine the literature and assess the existing knowledge about the critical thinking of nursing students. The literature search was performed using several keywords in different combinations on electronic databases. The studies were identified, screened, and excluded or included in the review.

**Results**. Critical thinking is a multidimensional concept. The strategies for teaching critical thinking include using frameworks to guide teaching, concept mapping, problem-based learning, guided reflective discussions of critical incidents, simulation-based learning, and the Socratic method. There is evidence of relationships between critical thinking ability and factors such as age, gender, academic year, academic achievement, and learning styles of nursing students.

**Conclusions**. Critical thinking is one of the basic skills in the clinical reasoning process in healthcare and is therefore essential to its development in nursing students during their education programmes. Critical thinking is a key element for making progress in evidence-based practice and providing safe patient-centred care.

**Keywords**: *critical thinking*; *nursing student*; *nursing education*; *skill*; *competence* 

#### **REFERENCES**

Boso, K. M., van der Merwe, A.S., Gross, J. (2020). Critical thinking skills of nursing students: observations of classroom instructional activities. *Nursing Open*, 7:581–588. doi: 10.1002/nop2.426

Jimenez, J.-M., Lopez, M., Castro, M.-J., Martin-Gil, B., Cao, M.-J., Fernandez-Castro, M. (2021). Development of critical thinking skills of undergraduate students throughout the 4 years of nursing degree at a public university in Spain: a descriptive study. *BMJ Open*, 11. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2021-049950

Kazemi, N., Beigmoradi, S., Farmitani, Z., Ghorbani, F., Jamalinasab, A., Poor, N.H. (2022). The effect of problem-solving-based learning on critical thinking skills of nursing students. *Journal of Health Reports and Technology*, 8(4). https://doi.org/10.5812/jhrt-133327

Mousazadeh, N., Momennasab, M., Nia, H.S., Nazari, R., Hajihosseini, F. (2021). Effective factors in critical thinking disposition in nursing students. *Education Research International*, 2021. htt-ps://doi.org/10.1155/2021/5580010

### Critical Thinking as a Path to a Well-grounded and Aware Individual

#### Roma Valiukienė

Institute of Foreign Languages Faculty of Philology Vilnius University Lithuania roma.valiukiene@flf.vu.lt

Alongside education through virtual exchange (VE), task-based learning and content and language-integrated learning (CLIL), critical thinking (CT) is a vital factor in determining how progressive university teaching is. Its significance is increasing in weight due to swelling volumes of questionable or flawed argumentation and an urge to fight falsehoods on social media or orchestrated disinformation flows as part of non-conventional warfare, etc. Currently, we are witnessing revived importance in CT as a rational driver of skills, content and language learning (CLIL).

The aim of this presentation is to discuss in more depth how the confluence of CT and CLIL can meaningfully impact social sciences programmes, such as political sciences, philosophy, law, etc. Many experts contend that if done in a cohesive team and with careful consideration, foreign language instruction can provide a rational environment where different players, like language tutors, subject teachers and students of different study levels can collectively engage in order to promote clear, rational, logical, and independent thinking. An intriguing (and sometimes paradoxical) feature of the current situation is that even though everyone recognizes CT as a core of their courses in university education, efforts to promote CT remains the domain of an individual initiative, due to either enormous workloads, lack of coordination effort from the authorities or inconsistent collaboration in the faculty.

This presentation discusses how refined use of World Café, conference simulations and the Rogerian argument can enrich and consolidate the interaction between language and subject courses and improve students' ability to analyse, assess, and reconstruct *how we think*.

In an attempt to validate these educational techniques, I will detail how compliant they are with the overall university mission to educate a self-guided and self-disciplined individual who can efficiently function in a cross-cultural and cross-curriculum environment.

Keywords: World Café, conference, Rogerian argument, subject integration, CLIL

#### **REFERENCES**

Cottrell, S. (2017). *Critical thinking skills: Developing effective analysis and Argument* (3rd ed.). Palgrave Macmillan.

Haber, J. (2020). Critical thinking. The MIT Press.

Race, P. (2020). *The lecturer's toolkit: A practical guide to assessment, learning and teaching* (5th ed.). Routledge.

Tomlinson, B. (2011). *Materials development in language teaching* (2nd ed.). Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/9781139042789

Tudor, I. (2010). Learner-centredness as language education (1st ed.). Cambridge University Press.

### The Role of Old Literature in Shaping Self-Awareness and Social Skills of Students

#### **Tomasz Wysłobocki**

Institute of Romance Studies University of Wrocław, Poland tomasz.wyslobocki@uwr.edu.pl

My speech aims to emphasize the role that the university can and should play in shaping the self-awareness and social competencies of subsequent generations of citizens. What may seem surprising, classes on old literature can play a huge role in this respect. I would like to tell you about it using the example of lectures on French literature of the 18th century that I give to second-year students in Romance philology at the University of Wrocław.

In today's world, where – as it may seem – only exact sciences and specific skills that students acquire from their studies count, we forget that the University is definitely something more. It is, above all, a meeting place for people from different places, different backgrounds and cultures, with different life experiences and ambitions. It is at the University, in an atmosphere of equality and openness to arguments and differences, that students learn to discuss and make difficult compromises. They develop soft skills, so important in today's globalized and unstable world.

At the same time, students, for whom parents, school counsellors, and teachers were previously responsible, become independent individuals who personally create their careers and take their lives into their own hands. From now on, they are the only ones to decide for their future. The University is the time when they go through this process – it is a place where children transform into adults.

I would like to share with you my experiences and observations about how literature classes from a seemingly distant and forgotten epoch can, in a sometimes-surprising way, give young people much more than knowledge of IT tools and specific technical skills.

**Keywords:** *university, old literature, social skills, democracy, citizens* 

#### **REFERENCES**

Durrant, G. (1981). Struggling with the Question of How to Live: Teaching Literature in the University. *Theoria: A Journal of Social and Political Theory*, 56, 25–39. http://www.jstor.org/stable/41801670.

Escarpit R. (1970). Le littéraire et le social. Flammarion.

Laroque, L., Raulet-Marcel, C. (2017). Littérature et valeurs. *Le français aujourd'hui*, 197, 5–14. https://doi.org/10.3917/lfa.197.0005.

Pawłowska M. (2018). Enseignement de la littérature française ancienne : souvenirs et témoignage. *Romanica Wratislaviensia*, 65, 107–118. https://doi.org/10.19195/0557-2665.65.9.

Perrin-Doucey A. (2019). Littérature et lecture, valeurs et citoyenneté : quels apports pour l'enseignement moral et civique ?. *Recherches & Travaux*, 94. https://doi.org/10.4000/recherchestravaux.1629.

- Pieper, I. (2006). The Teaching of Literature. Preliminary Study. Council of Europe Language Policy division. https://rm.coe.int/16805c73e1.
- Rosier J.-M. (1998). Enseigner la littérature pour éduquer à la citoyenneté. *Spirale Revue de recherches en éducation*, *21*, 129–132. https://www.persee.fr/doc/spira\_0994-3722\_1998\_num\_21\_1\_1802.
- Stępkowski D. (2021). Kształtowanie moralności w warunkach szkolnych Herbart i poza nim. *Przegląd Pedagogiczny*, 1, 42–58. https://doi.org/10.34767/PP.2021.01.02.
- Wysłobocki T. (2018). À la recherche de la vocation perdue. Plaidoyer pour l'enseignement de la littérature des siècles passés. *Romanica Wratislaviensia*, 65, 157–167. https://doi.org/10.19195/0557-2665.65.13.
- Wysłobocki T. (2019). Enseigner la civilisation des siècles passés à l'université : quelques réflexions personnelles. In M. Sokołowicz, I. Zatorska (Eds), *Quand regarder fait lire. Nouveaux défis dans l'enseignement des littératures de langue française*, 49–57.

# Complexity Theory-Based Insights into What Is More Important in Higher Education: Critical Thinking or Reflective Thinking? Or Both?

#### Loreta Zavadskienė

Institute of Foreign Languages, Faculty of Philology, Vilnius University, Lithuania loreta.zavadskiene@flf.vu.lt

Higher education is about complex learning. Amongst other things, it is about the development of critical thinking and reflective thinking, skills highly needed by university students to succeed in their academic endevours, and the ones employers want graduates with. Although having the same denominator, that is thinking, in theory and research on higher education both types of thinking are mainly approached as separate phenomena, in this way contributing to the fragmentation of understanding of both their significance and interrelationship. Therefore, to overcome such a fragmentation, this research draws on complexity theory as a lens for the holistic approach to re-conceptualising critical and reflective thinking. Against this background, the aim of the current study is to gain a deeper understanding of critical and reflective thinking as complex phenomena. The theoretical framework developed for this research uses complexity theory in two ways: as an epistemological frame and an interpretative tool. The aim of this research is pursued first by overviewing some complexity-based concepts characteristic of complex phenomena, such as a complex system, emergence, self-organisation etc., and demonstrating their relevance to the concepts under study. Following this, complexity informed investigations into the synergistic nature of the relationships between critical thinking and reflective thinking are discussed. Finally, the need for seeing critical thinking and reflective thinking as an emerging complex system in higher education is justified. In conclusion, assuming that there is an urgent need to foster a broader awareness of complex phenomena in higher education, seeing complexity theory as an alternative conceptual space for theorising critical thinking and reflective thinking as an emerging complex system seems to be of great promise for nurturing it in higher education.

**Keywords:** A complex phenomenon, complexity theory, critical thinking, higher education, reflective thinking

